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The Society’s achievement is set in the context of an increasingly 
challenging competitive and economic environment. Once again, 
throughout 2017, Brexit remained a huge source of uncertainty 
to all businesses. We are now more than half way through the 
period between the EU referendum and the point at which 
we will be required to leave the European Union and there 
remain many strands of the negotiations that, publicly at least, 
appear to have been barely started. Only at the start of 2018 
has the negotiation moved onto the future trading relationship 

between Britain and Europe, and it is likely that a large measure 
of uncertainty will remain until very late in the process or even 
beyond the point at which we formally leave the EU.

As the Society transacts in Sterling and only operates in the 
territory of the UK, the direct impact of Brexit on the Society 
should be small. If however, Brexit was to reduce confidence in 
the housing and savings markets, the secondary impact on our 
customers could be more significant. The Society continues to 

In 2017 the Society succeeded in growing its total assets base,  
as well as the size and strength of its mortgage book and has  
seen its reserves rise once again to record levels. 

Key performance indicators:

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Chairman’s Statement

£242.5m (2016: £231.2m);

£33m (2016: £29.5m);

Gross mortgage lending of £47.6m (2016: £43.6m) which increased the Society’s mortgage book  
by 4.9% to a record level of

Society reserves up by 11.9% to

£4.2m (2016: £3.4m);

Society profit on ordinary activities before taxation reported at

Liquid assets ratio of 23.6% of shares and borrowings (2016: 23.7%);

£311.7m (2016: £298.6m);

13 (2016: 16);

Total Assets of the Society increased by 4.4% to 

Cases with arrears of more than 2 months 

Customer satisfaction: 95% of customers surveyed would recommend the Society to family 
and friends (2016: 96%).
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monitor consumer sentiment carefully as we would  
naturally expect this to be a good indicator of future trends  
in the mortgage market.

If anything, the economy has fared better than many imagined 
following the Leave vote in June 2016. The Bank of England’s 
August 2016 decision to make a precautionary cut in interest 
rates following the referendum was reversed in November 
2017 and many have conjectured whether this is the first data 
point in a series of rises to come. The Bank of England has 
indeed signalled that there are likely to be further rises, but this 
tempered by a view that such increases are likely to be slowly 
fed into the UK economy as a fine line is to be steered between 
controlling inflation, which ended 2017 at a high of 3.1%,  
and not choking off growth to the economy.

I was particularly pleased that the Society was in a position  
to pass on the rate rise to its savings customers at the end  
of 2017 as we are very mindful of the burden of low interest rates 
that has had to be borne by savers in recent years. Equally we 
are aware that increases in rates will, in time, bring concerns for 
some mortgage customers and we will want to make sure that 
we continue to balance the interests of borrowers and savers.

The UK housing market was the subject of a major government 
White Paper in the spring of 2017 in which it was described by 
its authors as “broken”. One of the most concerning findings, 
well known within our industry, was the inaccessibility of home 
ownership to many younger people and over recent years the 
Society has been particularly active in exploring ways in which 
we can help people get onto the property ladder. The Society 
continues to innovate in this area and over the course of 2017 
has extended its level of business with first time buyers in a 
variety of different products.

This government appears to be giving housing, and particularly 
the challenge of building more properties, more attention than 
previous administrations, and this is welcomed by Building 
Societies of all sizes. However, it remains to be seen whether, 
and at what speed, decades of government underinvestment 
in housing can be corrected. Until such time as this can be 
addressed, perhaps taking a generation or more, it is likely that 
demand will exceed supply, keeping prices high, particularly  
for those in Southern England.

Improving the Society’s resilience

In 2017, the Society embarked on a major programme of to 
replace parts of its IT systems. Even though the core systems 
running our mortgage and savings databases were largely 
unaffected, the task has consumed a good deal of management 
effort and Board attention in the last year. The main objective 
of the work undertaken in 2017 has been to improve the 
robustness and resilience of the Society’s IT infrastructure,  
in the event of a cyber-attack and other types of business 
continuity disruption. By the end of 2017 a crucial stage in the 
work had been completed and more effort is planned for 2018  

to further enhance the performance of the Society’s IT systems.  
Over future years, continuing investment will be made to the 
Society’s systems to ensure that we can respond to new  
threats and opportunities.

Disposal of the Society’s letting business

For a number of years, the Society has been considering  
the strategic role of its letting subsidiary business,  
Bath Property Letting Limited. It has in the past been  
a useful, if not major, contributor to the Group’s profit  
but in recent years we have been aware that we would be  
able to be more effective in our core markets of mortgages  
and savings without the distraction of running a property  
letting agency. We also recognised that our letting agency 
would be more likely to thrive and prosper under the direction 
of specialist letting agency management. Accordingly, in 2017 
we decided that it was time to dispose of the business and we 
sold Bath Property Letting Limited to Leaders Romans Group, 
a fast growing and acquisitive business based in the South 
East looking to expand its geographic reach. The business  
was sold in November 2017 and most of the staff transferred  
to the new business based in the premises the Society  
has long occupied at Southgate in Bath.

The Society’s Board

At the end of 2017, we bade farewell to Ann Berresford who has 
served on our Board for almost 10 years. We will greatly miss her 
contribution, but are pleased to announce that her place on the 
Board will be taken by economist Fionnuala Earley, who has a 
wealth of experience in housing and the Building Society sector. 

I am also pleased to welcome Tonia Lovell, the Society’s Chief 
Risk Officer and Secretary to the Board as an Executive Director. 
Tonia took up this position in May 2017.

Having completed 18 months in the position of Chairman  
of the Building Societies’ Association, our Chief Executive,  
Dick Jenkins, stood down from that role in May 2017. Dick will 
also be retiring as Chief Executive of the Society at the AGM  
in April 2018 after 14 successful years. I would like to pay tribute  
to his great dedication to, and sound stewardship of, the  
Society over that time. He will be replaced as Chief Executive  
by Kevin Gray.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the support that the Society 
has enjoyed from its staff, suppliers and, most importantly,  
its Members. 

 Robert Derry-Evans
 Chairman
 9 March 2018

Chairman’s Statement (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

Chief Executive’s Report

Mortgages

The Society achieved growth in its mortgage book of 
some 4.9% which was very much in line with the Society’s 
expectation at the beginning of the year. 

The country’s largest 6 lenders have a combined market share 
of over 75% leaving over 150 lenders, including Bath Building 
Society, to compete for the remaining 25% or so of the market. 
Recent years have seen an increase in competition in the 
mortgage market as so-called “challenger banks” have been 
looking to take market share in key segments of the market, 
such as buy to let lending. The overall mortgage market  
has still a long way to go to recover to the levels reached 
immediately before the financial crisis of some 10 years ago. 
With increased competition and market volumes being 
relatively flat, margins have been under pressure in recent 
years as lenders have sought to protect market share  
through lower prices. 

Our strategic response to market forces has been to continue 
to innovate in the market, to widen our distribution channels 
and to improve the proposition to existing customers.

The Society has developed a string of innovative products 
throughout the years which continue to meet the specialist 
needs of certain types of borrowers. The last 2 to 3 years 
has seen further growth in our “Buy for Uni” mortgage which 
allows students to become homeowners while studying for 
their degrees with parental assistance. The “Rent a Room” 
mortgage allows those who can afford to get on the property 
ladder with the assistance of income from renting a room  
in their property and continues to be a popular product  
in our portfolio whilst house prices remain very high.  
High property prices have stimulated demand for the  
Society’s mortgage products which extend up to 95% of  
the purchase price, again, another growth sector of our  
loan portfolio. The Society is also developing further its 
involvement in “Shared Ownership” mortgages in conjunction 
with housing associations where a combination of subsidised 
rent and mortgage payments can provide a route to home 
ownership for borrowers with more modest incomes.  
There can be few lenders with a wider range of products 
designed to assist first time buyers into the market. 

At the other end of the age spectrum the Society is well known  
for not having an age limit for older borrowers and has launched  
a mortgage specifically designed for retired borrowers with 
(pension and/or other) income sufficient to meet mortgage 
payments. The Society’s analysis shows that there are many older 
borrowers who may wish to borrow funds for a range of purposes 
(for instance, assisting grandchildren onto the property ladder, 
making home improvements, perhaps the holiday of a lifetime)  
 

whilst avoiding traditional equity release type loans. The Society’s 
‘Retirement Mortgage’ seeks to meet this need whilst also 
diversifying its lending book. The Society also continues to  
offer mortgages to those looking to build their own home.

To meet the strategic challenge of growing our mortgage book, 
the Society has strengthened its mortgage sales and marketing 
efforts to ensure that it is both familiar to and well regarded by 
the mortgage broker community. Most mortgages in the UK are 
sold by brokers and the Society has increasingly positioned itself 
as a broker-oriented lender. The Society is now able to accept 
applications online from brokers and will be further extending  
the reach of its online support to brokers in 2018.

In 2017, the society improved its borrower retention processes. 
This helped to reduce the level of redemptions that the  
Society experienced in 2017 and the Society is committed  
to continue its current policy of offering its best products  
to existing customers.

The Society has continued to see a reduction in the number of 
arrears cases through 2017. At the start of the year, 16 mortgages 
had arrears in excess of 2 months’ payments. By the end of the 
year this had fallen to 13 cases. As at the end of 2017, the Society 
had 1 property in possession (2016: 0).

Savings and funding

The Society is watching the early days of “Open Banking” 
launched at the start of 2018 in the UK with interest.  
The Competition and Markets Authority hope that Open Banking 
will lead to new products and services for bank customers and 
facilitate switching between banks. In Open Banking confidential 
and sensitive data currently held by the largest banks will be 
accessible to third parties, only with customers’ permission, and 
can be used to provide new facilities for customers. The Society 
is not required at this stage to make its customers’ information 
more widely available and has no plans to do so.

Throughout 2017 the Society has continued to strike a balance 
between offering competitive market rates to savers whilst 
seeking to ensure that the Society’s level of liquid funding 
remains relatively efficient. Unlike many financial institutions the 
Society passed on the rate rise announced in November 2017  
at the earliest opportunity to its savers.

The Society continues to place value in having a wide range of 
funding sources and business channels should the need arise 
to raise funds quickly. For many years the Society has resisted 
the temptation to rely on wholesale funding from other financial 
institutions and at the end of 2017 was fully retail funded.
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Given the very low rates (down to 0%, in some cases) offered 
to the Society by the large clearing banks the Society’s Board 
decided to move the vast majority of its liquid funds from 
clearing bank call accounts to the Bank of England Reserve 
Account where the funds can be very quickly deployed if 
necessary with a negligible credit risk.

The Society plans to upgrade its existing online savings 
system, in such a way that will allow access to balances and 
transactional capability on tablets and mobile devices. 

Property letting 

Bath Building Society sold its subsidiary business, Bath 
Property Letting Limited to Leaders Romans Group on  
21 November 2017 creating a one-off positive contribution  
to the Society’s 2017 stated pre-tax profit figure. The Society  
is no longer involved in property letting although it remains 
active in providing mortgage finance to landlords.

Community involvement

The Society continues to work with a range of local charities. 

The Society once again donated £6,500 to a diverse range of 
charities through its Charity Awards Scheme that offers small 
but meaningful sums to local charities and community groups 
working in and around Bath. Amongst charities supported 
were The Bath Child Contact Centre, Threeways School, 
Bath Gateway Out & About and the Woodworks Project,  
all based in the City. 

In the first half of the year the Society’s charity of the year 
was the Bath Samaritans, offering much-needed distress 
counselling services. From the middle of the year Focus 
Counselling became our charity of the year for 2017–18.

For the 42nd consecutive year, the Society also sponsored  
the annual Fireworks on the Rec organised by The Rotary Club 
of Bath and the children’s Firework Safety Poster Competition. 
The Society’s partnership with the Rotary Club also extended 
to sponsorship of the Motor Festival at Lansdown and the 
annual carol service at Bath Abbey. All of these fundraising 
events further the Society’s ambition to help the local 
community and make a contribution at grass roots level.  
As a result of the Fireworks on the Rec and the carol service, 
the Society has been able to present a cheque to Focus 
Counselling for over £6,700.

The Society is keen to continue with its work in the Community 
and is investigating the mechanics of creating a charitable 
foundation which could provide a more sustainable way of 
offering support to local charities.

As I come to the end of my time as the Society’s Chief 
Executive, I am reflecting on the very many changes the 
Society has undergone in the last 14 years, through an 
unprecedented period of turbulence in the financial markets.  
I believe the Society has emerged from this turbulence  
stronger and better equipped to deal with the future by 
continuing to keep the needs of Members foremost and  
staying true to the values that have been the mainstay of  
this business throughout its long history. Much has changed 
over the years, but our heart remains with the Members  
and the community of Bath which we serve. 

It has been a pleasure and a privilege to serve the Members of 
this Society and I wish the Society the very best for the future. 

 Dick Jenkins
 Chief Executive
 9 March 2018

Chief Executive’s Report (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Strategic Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the Strategic Report  
for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

Business objectives 

The principal objective of the Society is to be an excellent 
example of a local building society, possessing a secure  
and trusted brand that is backed up by consistently strong 
financial results. The Society aims to deliver steady growth  
in the level of its mortgage assets, primarily funding  
mortgage assets through retail deposits and by  
deposits from small businesses.

Business strategy 

The Society’s main competitive advantage lies in its ability to 
apply traditional underwriting techniques to the assessment 
of prime mortgage cases that are complex in nature and 
that require a high level of manual intervention, and for which 
higher margins are appropriate. The Society’s strategy focuses 
on delivering strong profitability through offering a range of 
innovative mortgage products to customers who demand 
a personal and flexible mortgage service. Over 2017, the 
Society’s core plan continued to be to grow its mortgage book 
funded by limited expansion of its base of shares and deposits 
sourced by its various distribution channels. Over the next 
strategic period to 2022, the Society’s strategy recognises  
that total funding from postal, internet and business channels  
is likely to grow faster than from its traditional retail channels. 
The niche nature of the Society’s business model is expected 
to require a relatively higher investment in people and systems 
than is the norm in the sector.

 
 
 
 
 

Business review and future developments 

The Society’s business for the year and its future plans are 
reviewed by the Chairman and Chief Executive on pages  
4 to 7. The Board of Directors principally monitors financial 
performance against 5 key performance indicators as  
defined below.

‘Mortgage Asset Growth’ is the percentage growth in the 
Society’s total of loans and advances to customers as 
measured between calendar year-ends, as stated in the 
Statement of Financial Position on page 29. ‘Profit Before Tax’  
is the Society profit on ordinary activities before taxation  
as stated in the Income Statement on page 28.  
‘Management Expense Ratio’ is the percentage given  
by dividing the sum of Administrative Expenses plus 
Depreciation and Amortisation, as stated in the Income 
Statement, by a calculation of the average of the total asset 
figures between current year-end and the prior year-end. 
‘Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio’ is the percentage given by 
dividing Common Equity Tier 1 regulatory capital of £32.8m 
(2016: £29.3m) by the sum of risk weighted assets and a 
regulatory measure for operational risk. ‘Leverage Ratio’  
is the percentage given by dividing Tier 1 regulatory capital  
of £32.8m (2016: £29.3m) by total assets as adjusted  
for mortgage pipeline commitments, intangible assets, 
allowances for impairment and financial derivatives.  
The Bank of England/Prudential Regulation Authority  
requires all UK banks and building societies to have  
a minimum leverage ratio of 4%.

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Mortgage Asset Growth

Profit Before Tax

Management Expense Ratio (excluding FSCS Levy)

Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio

Leverage Ratio

Key Performance Indicator
4.9%

£4,235,000 

1.39%

26.9%

10.4%

1.9%

£3,398,000

1.28%

24.3%

9.7%

2017 2016
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The Board’s budgetary aims for 2017 were to achieve  
modest growth in the Society’s total asset base and to 
concentrate on strengthening the Society’s capital base.  
The Board can confirm that the actual increase in total assets 
was within budgetary tolerances, and that the 4.9% growth in 
mortgage assets is considered to be a positive result against 
a background of major regulatory change and an increase 
in competitive pressures. The management expense ratio 
increased on the previous year due to recruitment of more staff 
to cover new regulatory and business demands, plus a general 
increase in other administrative expenses. The Society’s only 
means of accessing new capital is through the retention of 
earnings. Political and regulatory pressure exists to encourage 
all banks and building societies to further improve their capital 
positions where they can. The Board is of the opinion that 
the level of 2017 profit performance is appropriate given 
the requirement to balance the Society’s status as a mutual 
organisation with the desire to achieve sufficient profitability 
that will allow the Society to continue to materially strengthen 
its capital position. The Society’s strengthening capital base 
is demonstrated by the significant increase in the Common 
Equity Tier 1 Ratio and the Leverage Ratio.

In 2017, the Society booked a net credit for impairment of 
£162,000 (2016: £17,000 net charge) and utilised £20,000 
(2016: £821,000) of individual impairment allowances on 
the disposal of repossessed properties. Total allowances 
for impairment decreased to £1,137,000 (2016: £1,319,000). 
Individual allowances for impairment of £73,000 (2016: 
£79,000) were made against 2 existing arrears cases and 
3 new arrears cases. Individual allowances for impairment  
of £48,000 that were associated with 2 cases were released.  
The collective allowance for impairment decreased by 
£187,000 to £75,000 (2016: £262,000). 

 
 

Despite the recent growth in property values and the continuing 
improvement in the general economic situation compared with 
the last recession, the Board is expecting the Society to have to 
continue to make new allowances for the impairment of loans 
and advances for some years ahead. As at 31 December 2017, 
the Society had 3 (2016: 2) mortgage loans that were over 12 
months or more in arrears. The total balance outstanding on 
these loans was £528,944 (2016: £476,214) and the total arrears 
outstanding were £124,184 (2016: £95,793). The Society holds 
individual allowances for impairment of £447,646  
(2016: £424,671) against these loans.

The Society uses certain forbearance techniques to help 
borrowers whose finances are stressed. These techniques  
include moving loans from a ‘capital and interest’ basis to an 
‘interest-only’ basis, moving loans onto fixed rates of interest, 
acceptance of temporary reductions in mortgage payments, and 
taking an active part in managing the collection of rental income to 
move defaulting buy-to-let and holiday home loans out of arrears. 
Before allowances for impairment are finalised for the year-end 
statutory accounts, the impact of forbearance on the Society’s 
arrears position is fully considered. The Board is of the opinion 
that the use of forbearance techniques has not had a material 
impact on the scale of the Society’s allowances for impairment.

Capital Requirements (country-by-country reporting) 
Regulations 2013

The Capital Requirements (country-by-country) Reporting 
Regulations 2013 introduced reporting obligations for institutions 
within the scope of the European Union’s Capital Requirements 
Directive (CRD IV). Article 89 of the Capital Requirements Directive 
IV (CRD IV) requires credit institutions and investment firms in the 
EU to disclose annually, specifying, by Member State and by third 
country in which it has an establishment, the following information 
for the year ended 31 December 2017:

EU Member  
State and/or  
third country

United Kingdom

Nature  
of activities

Deposit taking, 
Mortgage lending

Turnover 
(Society total 
income)

£8,160,000

Number  
of Employees 
at year end

54

Profit  
before tax

£4,235,000

Corporation tax 
payments made 
in 2017

£670,837

Public 
subsidies

£nil

Strategic Report (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The following table sets out the reconciliation of capital per the statement of financial 
position to regulatory capital: 

Profit and capital

The profit after tax transferred to the General Reserve was £3,533,000 (2016: £2,725,000).

Gross capital at 31 December 2017 was £33,041,000 (2016: £29,508,000), representing the aggregate of the General and 
Revaluation Reserves. Free capital at 31 December 2017 was £30,208,000 (2016: £26,618,000), representing the aggregate of 
gross capital and collective impairment on loans and advances to customers, less tangible fixed assets. At 31 December 2017  
the ratios of gross capital and free capital, as a percentage of shares and borrowings, were 11.9% (2016: 11.0%) and 10.9%  
(2016: 9.9%) respectively. Throughout 2017, the Society fully complied with its regulatory capital requirement.

Capital available:

 General reserve

 Revaluation reserve

Total capital per statement of financial position

Regulatory adjustments to obtain Common Equity Tier 1

 Intangible assets

Common Equity Tier 1 capital and Tier 1 capital

Tier 2 capital

 Collective allowance for impairment (total Tier 2 capital)

Total regulatory capital

Total Capital Requirement

Surplus of capital over Total Capital Requirement

32,693

348

33,041

(263)

32,778

75

32,853 

 

12,167

20,685

29,160

348

29,508

(238)

29,270

262

29,532

12,449

17,083

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Brexit vote has increased uncertainty as to whether the 
UK economy will continue its growth pattern of recent years or 
whether it will be adversely affected by the planned departure 
from the European Union (see the Chairman’s Statement on 
page 4). Uncertainty also exists as to the particular risks posed 
to the UK’s important financial services sector, of which the 
Society forms a part. However, foremost amongst risks to the 
Society continues to be credit risk associated with mortgage 
lending and depositing treasury funds with other institutions.

Credit risk – residential mortgage book (See Note 30 ci)

Credit risk in the mortgage book is managed via the  
application of stringent lending criteria where a focus is placed 
on ensuring that the quality of new lending remains high. 
The Board continuously monitors the level of arrears in the 
Society’s existing loan book and also how individual arrears 
cases are progressing. In common with all lenders, arrears 

levels are negatively impacted by rising unemployment, falling 
house prices and rising interest rates. There remains great 
uncertainty as to whether the economy will continue to deliver 
sufficient growth to sustain the recent increase in employment 
and average property prices. The Society has generally 
experienced a low level of new residential arrears cases but it 
recognises that likely future increases in the Bank of England 
base rate would result in pressure to increase mortgage rates 
and that this could potentially increase the future level of loan 
arrears and defaults. In 2017, the Society repossessed 1 
residential property (2016: Nil). Although the occurrence of  
new residential arrears cases slowed significantly in 2017,  
the individual allowance for impairment against 1 long standing 
residential loan has increased due to increased impairment  
on a holiday home loan associated with a single distressed 
holiday site. The Society considers there to be a strong 
likelihood of it continuing to experience further material  
losses from its residential lending activities although these  
are expected to be within the Board’s appetite for credit risk.

2016 
£000

2017 
£000

Strategic Report (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Credit risk – commercial mortgage book (See Note 30 cii)

The Society engaged in commercial lending until  
31 December 2016 at which point it took a strategic  
decision to completely withdraw from commercial lending  
in order to concentrate on expanding its residential  
mortgage book. Therefore, in future periods the Society 
expects its commercial book to reduce as a proportion of 
total mortgage assets. Commercial risk appetite has been 
regularly reviewed in light of economic and market conditions. 
Commercial lending has operated within a framework of 
conservative credit criteria, principally focused on underlying 
income streams, debt servicing cover and property values. 
The Society operated stricter maximum loan-to-value rules 
for commercial lending than is still the case for lending on 
residential property. The Society maintained a preference  
for lending on commercial properties that had secondary  
or alternative residential uses. The Society would not lend on 
certain types of commercial property or fund development 
projects that were considered to be high risk or where it lacked 
some form of specialist commercial property knowledge. 

Commercial lending relationships were subject to regular 
reviews to ensure that facilities were fully performing and 
to identify cases of potential cause for concern, in order to 
facilitate early risk mitigation activity. The Society’s Credit 
Committee monitored a series of credit exposure limits  
which were aimed at producing a diversified commercial 
portfolio with minimal concentration risk. In 2017, the Society 
did not dispose of any repossessed commercial properties 
(2016: Nil). In 2017, the Society reduced its overall exposure to 
commercial lending; however, for 1 long-standing commercial 
case in arrears it had to increase the individual allowance for 
impairment by a further £15,074 to £242,185 (2016: £227,111). 
The Society considers there to be a moderate likelihood 
of having to make further allowances for impairment of 
commercial loans although the occurrence of new  
commercial arrears cases continues to slow.

 
 

Credit risk – treasury portfolio (See Note 30 d)

Credit risk in the treasury portfolio is primarily managed by 
limiting the maximum size of investments and by only investing 
directly with counterparties that are of a predetermined credit 
quality. The Society does not invest in structured investments. 
As part of its treasury credit risk control processes, the 
Board utilises the published data from international credit 
ratings agencies and also takes professional advice from 
treasury market experts. The Society believes that there 
is a low likelihood of a loss from direct exposure to any of 
its counterparties; however, the Society prudently limits its 
exposure to individual market counterparties to £1m but will 
place larger investments with the main UK clearing banks, 
the UK Government, the Bank of England and the European 
Investment Bank. The Society has no exposure to foreign 
banks and does not hold any Euro denominated investments.

Liquidity risk (See Note 30 e)

As a deposit-taking institution, the Society is mindful of the 
need to maintain a sufficient level of liquid assets to ensure 
the smooth operation of its businesses in normal and stressed 
economic circumstances. The Society continues to maintain 
a robust liquidity position, with liquid assets at year-end being 
23.6% (2016: 23.7%) of shares, deposits and loans (SDL). 

From 1 October 2015, the Prudential Regulation Authority 
introduced its new regime for managing liquidity and a new 
regulatory measure called the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR). 
The LCR is a measure of the Society’s ability to withstand 
a short-term liquidity stress and the methodology for its 
calculation has been prescribed. As from 1 January 2017, 
the Society has had to maintain a pool of high quality liquid 
assets (previously buffer eligible assets) to cover 90% of the 
LCR requirement. The LCR requirement will transition to 100% 
from 1 January 2018. As at 31 December 2017, the Society’s 
pool of high quality liquid assets was in excess of 100% of the 
LCR requirement and the Board’s policy is to keep its holdings 
significantly in excess of the 100% requirement. 

Total High Quality Liquid Assets/buffer eligible assets

 Cash and balances with the Bank of England

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Total liquid resources

47,891

17,590

65,481

2017 
£000

 

 36,125

27,201

63,326

A breakdown of the Society’s total liquid resources is set out in the table below:

2016 
£000

Strategic Report (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The Board has determined that in these uncertain times the 
Society should continue to focus on retaining existing funding 
and that it should seek to maintain relatively high levels of 
readily accessible liquidity. The Society considers there to 
be a low likelihood of it not having sufficient liquidity to meet 
intended requirements.

Interest rate risk (See Note 30 f)

The Society holds treasury and mortgage assets that earn  
a fixed rate of interest to the Society. It also has funding 
liabilities that require the Society to pay interest on fixed  
rate terms. The future maturity profiles of the Society’s fixed 
rate assets and liabilities are often different. When such 
maturity mismatches are present, and market interest rates 
move, the Society is exposed to interest rate risk. The biggest 
source of interest rate risk arises from the Society advancing 
fixed rate mortgage products. The Society reduces its exposure 
to repricing risk by purchasing interest rate swaps to effectively 
convert fixed rate mortgage assets into variable rate assets.  
The Society considers there to be a low likelihood of incurring  
an economic loss from exposure to interest rate risk.

Conduct risk

As a regulated deposit-taker and mortgage lender, the Society 
risks regulatory censure and fines if its activities were ever 
deemed to be placing customers in situations which were to 
their significant detriment, unfair, or unethical. The Society 
regularly examines its practices, procedures and processes 
with the objective of maintaining a business culture that always 
delivers the intended and most positive outcomes for the 
Society’s customers. The Society considers there to be  
a low likelihood of incurring losses through conduct risk.

Operational risk

The Society is vulnerable to the risk of making losses from 
inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, human error, 
malicious software and hacking, fraud and external events. 
Processes and systems are in place to minimise these risks. 
The Society considers there to be a low likelihood of  
incurring a material loss from operational risk although,  
like all other businesses, the threat posed by cyber risk  
is recognised as being an ever growing and challenging  
issue and as such, the Society expects to have to  
continue investing heavily to counter this threat.

Uncertainties

The future timing and scale of increases in the Bank of England 
base rate remains uncertain although the Board is of the 
opinion that the Bank of England’s base rate is likely to increase 
over 2018. There remains uncertainty about the impact on the 
economy and interest rates from the UK’s planned departure 
from the European Union. A small rise in future interest rates 

would generally be beneficial to the Society as yield from  
the treasury portfolio would increase and, in the short term,  
the relative cost of current fixed rate funding would also fall.  
Large increases in future interest rates might, however, require the 
Society to narrow its margins in order to protect its borrowers and 
could lead to the emergence of greater arrears. The Board also 
remains uncertain as to the scale of the Society’s future liability 
towards the Financial Services Compensation Scheme.  
The final capital shortfall from the bail-out of the Bradford  
& Bingley is not known.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Board of Directors has the objective of establishing  
a suitably robust control environment that successfully  
reduces the potential impact of risks that are present in the 
Society’s business. The control environment is designed to 
reduce both the probability of risks actually crystallising, and to 
reduce the impact of risks when they do crystallise. The Board 
of Directors has developed a Financial Risk Management Policy 
that deals with the procedures to manage treasury credit risk, 
basis risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk; and a Lending 
Policy that dictates the procedures to manage mortgage  
credit risk. The Society’s committee structure is specifically 
designed to monitor and control different aspects of risk on 
an ongoing basis. In particular, a Risk Committee exists to 
measure and appraise risk across the whole business and  
to keep the potential impact from risks that could crystallise  
as losses to within parameters set out in the Board’s stated  
risk appetite.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

 Robert Derry-Evans
 Chairman
 9 March 2018
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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the Report and Accounts for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 which have been prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102. The Directors consider that the Report and Accounts, taken 
as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary 
for Members to assess the Society’s performance, business model and strategy.

Staff

The Directors place on record their sincere appreciation of the 
commitment and dedication shown by the Society’s staff during 
the year. The professionalism and skill demonstrated across all 
aspects of the Society’s operations is a credit to all concerned and 
cannot be underestimated in the context of the success achieved. 
The Board maintains the view that the future of the Society will 
increasingly depend on a partnership between the Board, the 
staff and the Society Members. To ensure that this is promoted, 
Directors will continue the policy of employing people who 
possess skill and integrity in all areas of the business.

Creditors’ payment policy

The Society’s policy is to pay trade creditors in accordance 
with agreed terms once such creditors have fulfilled all aspects 
of the contract. At the end of 2017 trade creditors outstanding 
represented 25 days of purchases (2016: 30 days).

Asset encumbrance policy

The Society’s policy is to permit the encumbrance of assets 
where this is required as a norm of standard market practices 
or where it is necessary to obtain central bank funding facilities 
or liquidity insurance. As a standard precondition of the Bank of 
England’s Funding for Lending Scheme, the Society prepositioned 
a portfolio of residential mortgage loans with the Bank of England 
in 2013. From time-to-time, the Society also provides cash 
collateral to the Royal Bank of Scotland as a requirement of the 
Credit Support Annex to the International Swaps and Derivatives 
Association (ISDA) master agreement that the Society has in  
place with that counterparty.

Auditor

Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office 
and, in accordance with Section 77 of the Building Societies Act 
1986, a resolution for its reappointment will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

Preparing the Annual Accounts
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with 
the statement of the auditor’s responsibilities on page 26, is made  
 

by the Directors to explain their responsibilities in relation to the 
preparation of the Annual Accounts, Annual Business Statement 
and Directors’ Report.

The Building Societies Act 1986 (‘the Act’) requires the Directors 
to prepare annual accounts for each financial year which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Society as at the 
balance sheet date and of the income and expenditure of the 
Society for the year. In preparing those accounts, the Directors  
are required to:

•  Select appropriate accounting policies and apply  
them consistently;

•  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

•  State whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed; and

•  Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis, unless  
it is inappropriate to presume that the Society will continue  
in business.

In addition to the accounts, the Act requires the Directors to 
prepare, for each financial year, an Annual Business Statement 
and a Directors’ Report, each containing prescribed information 
relating to the business of the Society.

Accounting Records and Internal Control
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Society:

•  Keeps accounting records in accordance with the  
Building Societies Act 1986 or the Companies Act 2006  
(as relevant); and

•  Adheres to financial risk management objectives with  
regards to its use of financial instruments (see page 12  
of the Strategic Report); and

•  Takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, document  
and review such systems and controls as are appropriate  
to its business in accordance with the rules made by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority under the Financial  
Services and Markets Act 2000.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Disclosure of information to the auditor

Each person who is a Director at the time when the Directors’ 
Report is approved must:

•  Ensure that there is no relevant audit information of which  
the Society’s auditor is unaware; and

•  Ensure that all steps have been taken that ought to have 
been taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Society’s auditor is aware  
of that information.

The Directors have general responsibility for safeguarding  
the assets of the Society and for taking reasonable steps for  
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
The Directors are also responsible for the integrity of the Society’s 
website www.bathbuildingsociety.co.uk. The work carried out by 
the auditor does not involve consideration of these matters and, 
accordingly, the auditor accepts no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they 
were initially presented on the website. Information published on 
the internet is accessible in many countries with different legal 
requirements relating to the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements. Information in these financial statements  
is provided under the legislation of the United Kingdom.

Going concern
In the opinion of the Directors, the Society continues to  
deliver excellent results despite an increasingly competitive 
mortgage market, a more turbulent economic and political 
environment and an ever increasing threat from cyber criminals. 
The core profitability of the Society remains very strong, due  
to a combination of continuing mortgage asset growth and 
successful management of margins.

In the coming year, the Society expects to achieve a slightly higher 
level of mortgage asset growth to that which it achieved in 2017.  
The Society will fund mortgage growth from current liquid 
resources and by increasing the Society’s base of shares and 
deposits primarily via retail channels and from local businesses.  
It does not expect to have to seek any wholesale funding from  
the money markets.

The Board of Directors has conducted a recent review of  
going concern which has included a review of funding, liquidity and 
capital projections for a 4 year period after the balance sheet date. 
This review indicates that the Society is likely to generate sufficient 
liquidity to fund expected mortgage growth whilst maintaining its 
current high levels of short-term liquidity throughout the period. 
With the Society now operating in an environment that includes 
access to Bank of England funding facilities, the Board has 
established a target of maintaining the Society’s overall  
level of liquid resources above 20% of its total funding liabilities. 
The Board has stress-tested its planned liquidity and capital 
positions over a 4 year period to 31 December 2021 to ensure  
that adequate capital and liquidity will be available throughout  
this strategic period. The Board is expecting the Society’s net  
margin to narrow from 2018 onwards due to the intense price 

competition in the mortgage market. Despite the prospect of 
narrower margins and lower profitability in future periods, the 
Board does expect the Society to continue to deliver profits that 
will remain relatively strong when compared in a historical context 
and for the Society’s surplus of capital over the PRA’s Total Capital 
Requirement to continue to grow. Short of the negative impacts on 
the Society’s liquidity and capital positions that might be caused 
by major economic events such as the collapse of a major UK 
clearing bank, a ‘run’ on the whole UK banking system, or the 
occurrence of massive unemployment combined with further very 
large reductions in property values, the Board is confident that the 
Society will continue to have sufficient liquidity and capital available 
in future periods to permit the delivery of the Society’s strategic plan. 
The Board is of the opinion that measures taken in recent years 
by national governments and central banks throughout the world 
have made it unlikely that very serious economic events, of the 
nature mentioned, will occur over the strategic timeframe.

In common with all other banks and building societies, in 2015 
the Society incorporated the requirements of the Prudential 
Regulation Authority’s regulations on liquidity risk management 
into its operations. This has involved building a substantial pool of 
High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLAs) issued by, or invested with, 
very strong institutions such as the Bank of England and the UK 
Treasury. As at 31 December 2017, the Society’s HQLA buffer 
stood at £47.9m (2016: £36.1m).

The Directors are satisfied that the Society has adequate 
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.  
For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing the accounts.

Directors
The following persons served as Directors during the year:

Dick Jenkins, Kevin Gray, Tonia Lovell, Ann Berresford, Chris Smyth, 
Robert Derry-Evans, Denzil Stirk, Angela Cha and David Smith.  
Ann Berresford retired from the Board on 31 December 2017. 
Fionnuala Earley joined the Board as Non-Executive Director  
as from 1 January 2018. In accordance with the Society’s rules, 
Kevin Gray, Robert Derry-Evans and David Smith will retire from 
the Board at the Annual General Meeting. Being eligible, they 
offer themselves for re-election. Tonia Lovell and Fionnuala 
Earley will present themselves for election at the Annual  
General Meeting for the first time.

None of the Directors holds any shares in, or debentures of,  
any connected undertaking of the Society.

On behalf of the Board

 Robert Derry-Evans
 Chairman
 9 March 2018
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Report of the Directors on 
Corporate Governance

The Directors are committed to best practice in Corporate Governance. Although the UK 
Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council in 2014 does not 
apply directly to Mutual organisations, the Board pays due regard to the Code principles.

The principal functions of the Board are to provide leadership and 
challenge; set the Society’s strategy, policy and internal limits; 
ensure appropriate resources are available to meet objectives; 
ensure there are robust systems and controls in place; ensure the 
Society operates within its constitution, regulation and legislation; 
consider and if appropriate approve any proposed new initiatives; 
and review business performance against objectives. The Board 
Manual describes how decisions relating to these matters are 
reserved for the Board. The Board meets as often as necessary for 
the proper conduct of business (usually monthly). The attendance 
record is detailed at Table 1 on page 18. The Board has a minuted 
meeting at least once a year without the Executive Directors being 
present. All Directors show clear commitment to the future success 
of the Society. The Board takes an interest in all aspects of the 
business but delegates certain decisions and responsibilities  
to the following committees:

Audit Committee:

Constituted by 3 Non-Executive Directors – David Smith 
(Chairman), Ann Berresford, and Denzil Stirk. Meetings are held 
at least 4 times per year and it is normal for executives and 
representatives from the Society’s external and internal auditors to 
attend by invitation. The Audit Committee has terms of reference 
that include all aspects of audit, compliance, systems and controls, 
and the review of changes to accounting standards that may affect  
the Society. The committee approves internal audit monitoring plans 
and assesses the adequacy of audit and compliance arrangements.

In 2017, the areas of particular focus for the committee included 
administration and underwriting of mortgages, financial crime, 
branch and agency compliance, recovery and resolution 
planning, risk management and controls effectiveness, 
management information coverage, compliance oversight, 
information technology governance and liquidity adequacy 
assessment processes. The committee examined the adequacy 
of the Society’s allowances for the impairment of mortgages 
and accounting provisions to cover commitments to the FSCS. 
In each of these areas the committee was provided with papers 
discussing key assumptions and issues, and any impact on  
the accounts. These were reviewed in detail and discussed  
with the relevant Society staff and the results of this work  
were considered, together with the results of testing by the 
internal auditor. The committee also considered whether  
the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and  
 

understandable and provides the information necessary for 
Members to assess the Society’s performance, business  
model and strategy. The committee resolved to commend  
the Annual Report to the Board for approval.

Risk Committee:

This committee consisted of 6 Non-Executive Directors and was 
chaired by Chris Smyth. The Chief Executive – Dick Jenkins, 
Deputy Chief Executive – Kevin Gray, and Director  
of Risk Management – Tonia Lovell also attend by invitation.  
The committee focuses on delivering the Society’s Risk 
Management Framework including reviewing the Society’s  
risk register, its risk appetite statement and its reverse  
stress-testing processes. The committee also approves the 
Society’s Recovery and Resolution Plan on an annual basis.  
The committee approves all policy documents as operated  
by its sub committees.

Remuneration Committee:

Constituted by 3 Non-Executive Directors – Ann Berresford, 
Robert Derry-Evans and Angela Cha. The committee was chaired 
by Ann Berresford. The Remuneration Committee has terms of 
reference that include setting directors’ fees and remuneration, 
directors’ contractual terms and review of the performance of 
the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors attend meetings  
by invitation but none that relate to their remuneration.

Nominations Committee:

Constituted by 3 Non-Executive Directors – Robert Derry-Evans 
(Chairman), Angela Cha and David Smith. The Nominations 
Committee has terms of reference that include executive 
appointments, Board succession planning, review of Board skill 
requirements and appointments of new Non-Executive Directors. 
The Executive Directors attend meetings by invitation.

In addition to the main Board Committees above, the business 
operates with sub-committees that help manage business risks. 
These are:

 
 
 
 
 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Credit Committee:

This consisted of 1 Non-Executive Director – Chris Smyth,  
plus Chief Executive – Dick Jenkins, Head of Mortgages  
– Steve Matthews, Director of Risk Management –  
Tonia Lovell, Head of Investments – Mark Wiltshaw and Senior 
Underwriter – Craig Brown. The committee was chaired by 
Deputy Chief Executive – Kevin Gray. The Credit Committee 
has terms of reference that include maintaining the quality of 
the Society’s mortgage book, oversight of the Society’s lending 
policy and underwriting. The committee reviews quarterly reports 
from the Head of Mortgages covering mortgage arrears and  
the volume and nature of exceptions to the lending policy.  
The committee also approves new underwriting mandates and 
gives approval for certain loans as specified in the Society’s 
lending policy. The committee reported to the Risk Committee.

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO):

This committee consisted of 1 Non-Executive  
Director – Denzil Stirk, plus Deputy Chief Executive –  
Kevin Gray, Head of Mortgages – Steve Matthews, Director  
of Risk Management – Tonia Lovell, Head of Investments  
– Mark Wiltshaw and Head of Accounts – Gemma Stock.  
The committee was chaired by Chief Executive – Dick Jenkins. 
The Assets and Liabilities Committee has terms of reference  
that include aspects of financial risk management, treasury 
matters and liquidity. The committee reviews monthly reports 
from the Deputy Chief Executive covering the ongoing 
management of interest rates, treasury investment strategy, 
asset encumbrance levels, liquidity arrangements  
and hedging. The committee reported to the Risk Committee.

Conduct and Operations Committee: 

This committee consisted of 1 Non-Executive Director –  
Angela Cha, plus Chief Executive – Dick Jenkins, Deputy  
Chief Executive – Kevin Gray, Director of Risk Management  
– Tonia Lovell, and Head of Mortgages – Steve Matthews.  
The committee was chaired by Head of Investments  
– Mark Wiltshaw. The committee has responsibilities for 
reviewing the Society’s processes and practices with a view 
to ensuring that customers are treated fairly. The committee 
reviews feedback from customers and customer complaints,  
and recommends process changes to the Senior Management 
Team where appropriate. The committee reported to the  
Risk Committee.

Information Technology and Business  
Resilience Committee:

This committee consisted of the Chief Executive –  
Dick Jenkins, Deputy Chief Executive – Kevin Gray, Head  
of Information Technology – Jason Wilmott. The Committee 
was chaired by Director of Risk Management – Tonia Lovell.  
The committee has the responsibility for monitoring risks 
associated with operating the Society’s information technology 
systems and for ensuring that the Society has adequate  
 

business continuity processes and procedures in place to 
protect it in the event of any incident involving damage to the 
Society’s physical infrastructure or data security. The committee 
reported to the Risk Committee.
 
The Senior Independent Director provides an alternative channel 
of communication for directors, staff and Members and has 
responsibility for ensuring that the Society Chairman’s performance 
is appraised on an annual basis. The role was performed by  
Ann Berresford. The Society maintains liability insurance for all 
Board members who also have access to independent legal advice.

The offices of Chairman and Chief Executive are distinct  
and are held by different people. The role of each is set out in  
their terms of appointment and service contract respectively.  
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, 
communication with Members and ensuring that directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear information. The Chairman is 
independent. The Chief Executive is responsible for managing  
the Society’s business within the parameters set by the Board.

The Chairman sets the Board agenda with the Chief Executive 
and ensures that adequate time is available for all discussions. 
The Chairman promotes debate and challenge and ensures  
that there is contribution from all members of the Board. 

Non-Executive Directors review all strategic proposals and 
propose amendments where this is thought to be necessary. 
They regularly monitor management’s progress in delivering the 
annual operating plan. Through the Remuneration Committee 
the Non-Executive Directors consider the performance of the 
Executive Directors, remuneration and succession planning.

At the year-end the Board comprised 3 Executive Directors  
and 6 Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman).  
The Board is of an appropriate size, with the necessary balance 
of skills and experience to meet the needs of the business.

The Nominations Committee considers the balance of skills 
and experience on the Board and the business requirements. 
Board composition and succession planning are regularly reviewed. 
Appointments are made on merit objectively against defined 
criteria, but with due regard to the benefits of diversity within 
the Board. As at 31 December 2017, the Board consisted  
of 9 directors (2016: 8) of which 3 were female (2016: 2).  
All directors meet the tests of fitness and propriety laid  
down by the regulators and all directors are registered  
with the regulators as Approved Persons to fulfil their Controlled 
Function as a director. Letters of appointment relating to  
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection on request.

The Chairman’s job specification outlines the main role 
of the Chairman with regard to meetings and commitment.  
The commitment of Non-Executive Directors is assessed 
through annual appraisal with the Chairman.

Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance (continued)  
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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New directors receive induction training including: the nature  
of building societies, responsibilities and duties, interpretation  
by management information, the Society’s business and local 
market, overview of regulatory requirements and significant 
issues for the industry. Training is provided to the Board  
by management and external courses. Training and 
development needs are identified during appraisals.

The Chairman ensures that the Board receives  
information in a timely way which is sufficient to  
enable it to fulfil its responsibilities.

The Chairman follows a formal annual appraisal process  
for all directors. The Senior Independent Director evaluates  
the Chairman, taking into account the views of other directors.  
The Board formally considers its overall performance  
and that of the committees on an annual basis and  
performance is also discussed at an annual meeting  
of the Non-Executive Directors.

All directors are submitted for election at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) following their first appointment to the Board.  
If any director has served for more than 9 years or is 70 years 
or older, they will be submitted for re-election annually  
at the AGM. One third of directors retire by rotation and apply 
for re-election at the AGM. Directors are only submitted for  
re-election if the appraisal confirms their ongoing contribution 
and the Nomination Committee recommends re-election 
based on the specialist knowledge, skills, experience and 
independence of character of the individual director.

The responsibilities of the directors in relation to the preparation 
of the Society’s accounts and the statement that the Society’s 
business is a going concern are contained in the Directors’ 
Report on pages 13 to 14.

The Board is responsible for determining appropriate strategies 
for risk management and control. The Board recognises 
compliance as a key part of the business and the Internal Auditor 
provides independent and objective challenge as to whether 
management controls over processes are appropriate and are 
being applied as stated. The Chief Risk Officer is responsible  
for providing guidance to the Board on risk control matters.

The Board reviews key documents at least annually.  
These include the Lending Policy, Mortgage Forbearance  
and Arrears Policy, Financial Risk Management Policy; the Risk 
Management Framework (reflecting the Board’s risk appetite); 
Corporate Strategy; Annual Operating Plan; Annual Budgets;  
the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP);  
the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP); 
the Recovery and Resolution Plans (RRP), and the Board 
Manual. The risk register element of the Risk Management 
Framework is subject to ongoing review by the Board 
Committees and has been updated during the year to ensure 
the Board is satisfied that all significant risks are documented 

and have systems of controls, which continue to be effective 
and appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of the 
Society’s business in the current environment. Management 
takes responsibility for operating within the control framework. 
The register reflects the risk categories used in the Capital 
Requirement Directives, for example, credit risk (risk that a 
customer or counterparty will fail to meet their obligations to the 
Society as they fall due); operational risk (risk of a loss arising 
from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, human 
error or external events); business risk (risk that the Society 
fails to meet the demands of its Members as a whole); and 
liquidity risk (risk that the Society is not able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due, or can do so only at excessive cost). 
Key controls include segregation of duties and monitoring/
reporting against Board approved limits.

The Board is satisfied that the Audit Committee  
includes members who have adequate, recent and relevant 
financial experience. The Society Chairman is not a member  
of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee meets with  
the auditor, without the Executives present, after each meeting. 
Minutes of Committee meetings are distributed to all Board 
members and the Chairman of the Audit Committee reports  
to the Board. The main Audit Committee responsibilities  
are described on page 15.

Deloitte LLP has been the Society’s auditor for a total of  
13 years. The firm was re-engaged as auditor in 2012 following 
a rigorous tender process at which its pitch for the audit was 
selected from those of other leading audit firms due to it being 
considered as offering the best and most cost-effective  
service to the Society. The Audit Committee’s usual policy is to  
re-tender the audit contract a minimum of once every 5 years.  
Despite Deloitte having now served all 5 years of their extended 
5 year contract, the Audit Committee has decided that the 
re-tender would best be performed at the same time as the 
re-tender for the internal audit contract, which is due to take 
place in 2018. The very limited number of audit firms who can 
undertake the specialist audits of financial institutions combined 
with the professional bar on individual firms performing both 
audit and internal audit functions at the same time, means that 
a combined re-tender process can offer the Society a wider 
choice of the best firm for the most appropriate role. As such, 
Deloitte will be requested to continue in post subject to approval 
at the Annual General Meeting. In 2017, the Audit Committee  
did appoint the auditor for certain non-audit engagements.  
The Audit Committee conducts a formal annual review  
of the level and split of total fees to the auditor and it  
assesses whether auditor independence is being maintained.  
Following the latest annual review, the Audit Committee 
considered that independence, effectiveness and objectivity 
were not being compromised by current arrangements.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the audit 
arrangements, the performance of the auditor, and the 
performance of the internal audit function after completion  

Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance (continued)  
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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(Number of meeting commitments actually attended/number of meeting commitments)

 On behalf of the Board
 Robert Derry-Evans  
 Chairman 

 9 March 2018

Table 1: Directors’ Attendance Record

Robert Derry-Evans 9/9 4/4  2/2 2/2    

Chris Smyth 9/9 4/4    4/4   

Ann Berresford 8/9 4/4 5/5  1/2    

Denzil Stirk 8/9 4/4 4/5    4/4  

Angela Cha 8/9 4/4  2/2 2/2    4/4

David Smith 9/9 4/4 5/5 2/2     

Dick Jenkins 8/9     4/4 4/4 4/4 3/4

Tonia Lovell 5/5     2/2 2/2 3/3 3/3

Kevin Gray 9/9     4/4 4/4 4/4 3/4

Director
Full  
Board Risk Audit Nominations Remuneration Credit ALCO

IT and  
Business  
Resilience

Conduct  
and  
Operations

Report of the Directors on Corporate Governance (continued)  
For the year ended 31 December 2017

of each annual cycle. The Audit Chairman also liaises closely 
with the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and the 
Director of Risk Management to assess relationships and 
operational working practices. The ongoing effectiveness of 
the audit process is considered by the Audit Committee by way 
of a formal review of the Annual Audit Plan and by review of interim 
reports to the Committee. The Audit Committee assesses its own 
effectiveness by formally assessing the results from an annual Audit 
Effectiveness Questionnaire that is completed by all participants.

As a mutual organisation, the Society has a membership 
composed of individual customers. The Society proactively seeks 
the views of customers using questionnaires and requests for 
Member feedback. All such feedback is considered at the  
 

Conduct and Operations Committee and contributes to  
the Society’s drive to improve outcomes for its customers.  
The Society is seeking ways to increase this dialogue in the future.

Each year the Society sends details of the AGM, including 
the election of the directors, to all Members eligible to vote. 
Members are encouraged to exercise their right to vote and are 
sent forms enabling them to appoint a proxy to vote for them  
if they cannot attend the AGM. At the AGM a presentation is 
given by the Society Chairman and Chief Executive covering the 
Society’s performance and current issues. A poll is called in relation 
to each resolution at the AGM, enabling all proxy votes to count.  
A scrutineer oversees the counting of votes at the AGM. 
Members of the Board are present at the AGM and are  
available to answer questions from the membership. 
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Report of the Directors  
on Remuneration

Unaudited information

The following Report of the Directors on Remuneration will  
be put to an advisory vote of the Members at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

The Board has due regard to the principles outlined in  
the UK Corporate Governance Code relating to the setting  
of remuneration.

Level and components of remuneration 

The Society’s remuneration policy is to reward directors 
through salary according to their expertise, experience  
and contribution. The Society also carries out benchmarking 
against other comparable organisations.

Executive Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration arrangement for Executive Directors 
consists of basic salary, annual bonus, pension and other 
benefits. The Executive Directors do not hold outside 
directorships that provide an income for the benefit  
of themselves.

The Remuneration Committee designs the Executive 
Directors’ bonus scheme to align the interests of Executive 
Directors with the interests of Members and provide incentives 
that recognise corporate and personal performance. If a range  
of challenging personal and operational targets is achieved, 
Dick Jenkins, Kevin Gray and Tonia Lovell can achieve  
a bonus of 10% of basic salary. The Committee has the 
discretion to reward the Executive Directors an additional  
bonus element equivalent to a maximum of 5% of basic  
salary if exceptional performance is deemed to be delivered.

The Executive Directors benefit from a pension scheme 
whereby the Society contributes 12% of basic salary per 
annum to a money purchase scheme. In lieu of his entitlement 
to pension contributions, Dick Jenkins has opted to receive  
a cash equivalent sum at no extra gross cost to the Society.  
The Society operates no final salary pension arrangements.

Dick Jenkins and Kevin Gray receive the benefit of a  
company car. Tonia Lovell receives the benefit of a  
car allowance. Kevin Gray and Tonia Lovell receive the  
benefit of paid professional subscriptions. The aggregate 
amount of these benefits is included in Table 2 on page 20.

Executive Directors’ contractual terms

Each Executive Director has a service contract with the 
Society, terminable by either party giving 6 months’ notice.

Non-Executive Directors

The level of fees payable to Non-Executive Directors  
is assessed by the Remuneration Committee using  
information from comparable organisations. These fees are 
not pensionable. Non-Executive Directors do not participate in 
any bonus schemes and they do not receive any other benefits. 
Details of Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments are set  
out in Table 3.

The terms of appointment letter for each Non-Executive 
Director specifies that either party giving 1 months’ notice  
may terminate the agreement.

Procedure for determining remuneration

Robert Derry-Evans, Ann Berresford, and Angela Cha 
constituted the Remuneration Committee. The committee  
is responsible for setting Executive Director remuneration  
and Non-Executive Director fees. After a review of the  
responsibilities and work load of Non-Executive Directors,  
the Committee approved a 3% rise in fees for 2018.

The Remuneration Committee normally reviews Executive 
Directors’ basic salaries on an annual basis, by reference  
to jobs carrying similar responsibilities in comparable 
organisations and local market conditions generally.

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2017 
£

Audited information

Table 2: Executive Directors’ Emoluments

Table 3: Non-Executive Directors’ Emoluments (comprising fees only)

Robert Derry-Evans (Society Chairman) 33,337  32,366

Chris Smyth (Society Vice-Chairman) 23,812 22,119

Ann Berresford (retired 31 December 2017) 23,812 22,119

Angela Cha 23,812 23,119

Denzil Stirk 23,812 22,119

David Smith 23,812  23,119

TOTALS 152,397 147,961

2016 
£

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee.
 
Robert Derry-Evans 
Chairman 
9 March 2018

Salary in lieu  
of pension 

contributions 
£

Pension 
Contributions 

£

Dick Jenkins 144,375 15,224 13,050 8,304 - 180,953

Kevin Gray 114,417 - 8,625 9,812 13,730 146,584

TOTALS 2016 258,792 15,224 21,675 18,116 13,730 327,537

2016

Basic 
Salary 

£

Annual  
bonus 

£
Benefits 

£
Total 2016 

£

Salary in lieu  
of pension 

contributions 
£

Pension 
Contributions 

£

Dick Jenkins 149,583 15,773 12,715 9,098 - 187,169

Kevin Gray 121,875 - 10,359 11,207 14,625 158,066

Tonia Lovell  
(appointed 1 May 2017) 50,000 - 7,227 4,309 6,000 67,536

TOTALS 2017 321,458 15,773 30,301 24,614 20,625 412,771

2017

Basic 
Salary 

£

Annual  
bonus 

£
Benefits 

£
Total 2017 

£

Report of the Directors on Remuneration (continued)  
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the Members of Bath 
Investment & Building Society

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the society’s affairs as at 31st December 2017 and of the society’s income 

and expenditure for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and  
Republic of Ireland”;

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986.

We have audited the financial statements of Bath Investment & Building Society (the ‘society’) which comprise:
• the income statement;
• the statement of financial position;
• the statement of changes in member’s interests;
• the cash flow statement; and
• the related notes 1 to 30.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Opinion

Report on the audit of the financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard were not provided to the society.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Basis for opinion 
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Key audit matters

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:
•  the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the 

financial statements is not appropriate; or 
•  the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the [group’s or the] society’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of  
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised  
for issue.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation  
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have nothing to report in respect 
of these matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
• Impairment losses
• Revenue recognition
These key audit matters were consistent with the prior year.

The materiality that we used in the current year was £141,000 which was determined 
on the basis of 5% of profit before tax. 

The level of work performed on the financial statements varied in nature, timing and 
extent based on our assessment of the risks and were performed by directly the audit 
engagement team. 

No significant changes have been made to our audit approach. 

Key audit matters

Materiality

Scoping

Significant changes  
in our approach

Summary of our audit approach
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The Society holds £1,137,000 of impairment losses at year-end (2016: £1,319,000) against loans and 
advances to customers of £243.5 million (2016: £232.6 million).

Management are required to make significant judgements in order to estimate incurred losses within the 
mortgage book. In making this judgement, management have considered both Society specific historic data 
as well as their experience and knowledge of the arrears position in their current mortgage book. Given the 
level of management judgement applied to the calculation of provisions, we consider there to be an inherent 
risk of potential fraud.

Specific provisions are made on a case by case basis, against loans that are considered to be in default. 
The provisions against these loans are recognised by calculating the exposure to loss after reflecting the 
effect of forced sale discounts and expected selling costs. Collective and ‘Incurred but not Reported’ 
(IBNR) provisions are calculated using historic arrears experience and applying historic loss percentages 
against the current mortgage book. 

The key judgement identified in relation to this key audit matter relates to the application or non-application 
of overlays to the collective provision. The current interest rate environment could indicate increased risk 
of default and therefore overlays may be applied to reflect and respond to characteristics of the book such 
as Buy-to-Let, Second advances and general over-indebtedness. The uncertainty around interest rates in 
addition to the future of the UK following exit from the European Union increases uncertainty and reinforces 
the challenge to management as to whether historic experience and models currently used by the Society 
will be indicative of future behaviour in the book. 

Management’s associated accounting policies and critical judgements are detailed in note 1 and 2.  
The Society’s impairment loss balances are detailed within note 12.

Impairment Losses

We gained an understanding of management’s lending and impairment loss business cycle by undertaking a 
walk-through to identify the key controls, data flows and supporting systems. We evaluated the design and 
implementation of these key controls.

We performed a recalculation of the provision based on management’s methodology. As part of this work,  
we also assessed completeness and accuracy of the underlying data.

We evaluated management’s application or non-application of overlays applied against the calculated  
provisions by developing a range of reasonable provisions data points using a variety of modelling scenarios. 
These included modelling the impact of forecast House Price Index changes and other factors on the loan 
exposure, as well as changes to the IBNR emergence period which would affect the likelihood of a loan going 
into default.

We challenged the key assumptions and potential overlays used by benchmarking to the Society’s peers.

We have concluded from our work performed that the provisions recognised by Bath Building Society  
in the current period are free from material error.

We identified that judgements and estimates applied were towards the conservative end of the  
reasonable range.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Key audit matter 
description

How the scope 
of our audit 
responded  
to the key  
audit matter

Key observations
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Total mortgage income is £9.7 million (2016: £10 million). Under FRS 102, income on a mortgage is required 
to be recognised on an effective interest rate (EIR) basis. 

To implement effective interest rate accounting, management must make certain significant judgements, 
specifically in relation to the behavioural lives of the assets and which fees are relevant for the purpose of 
effective interest rate accounting. The total adjustment is sensitive to these judgements and therefore we 
consider a potential risk of fraud to be present. 

The impact of the spreading of mortgage fees over the behavioural life has increased profit by £170,000  
in 2017 (2016: £18,000). 

Management’s associated accounting policies and critical judgements are detailed in note 1 and 2.

Revenue Recognition

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Key audit matter 
description

How the scope 
of our audit 
responded  
to the key  
audit matter

Key observations

We gained an understanding of the process around recognising interest of the Society including 
an assessment of the automated calculation of interest on the mortgage book. We also gained an 
understanding of managements process of calculating the EIR adjustment by performing a walkthrough to 
identify key controls, data inputs, data flows, calculations and assumptions. We evaluated the design and 
implementation of these key controls.

We challenged management on the judgements applied in reaching the appropriate behavioural life by 
performing an independent recalculation of the behavioural lives on each product type.

We reviewed the Society’s calculation of interest cash flows recognised on an EIR basis which included  
re-calculating the effective interest rate. We also performed a sensitivity analysis on the EIR rates to assess 
the potential for material error.

We performed additional procedures on the underlying data to assess the completeness and accuracy  
of the data.

In addition, we have reviewed the ongoing treatment of fees and charges arising on mortgages and the 
appropriateness of their inclusion or exclusion in the group’s effective interest rate models. We performed 
substantive testing on the fee income included within the EIR model to assess whether these fees were 
recorded completely and accurately. We also evaluated whether these fees met the criteria for inclusion 
within the model per the applicable accounting standard.

The results of our testing were satisfactory and the underlying methodology used for the calculation of EIR is 
considered materially accurate in the context of the accounting policies and the requirements of the relevant 
accounting standards. 

Our testing of behavioural life concluded that the behavioural lives calculated and applied by the Society 
were appropriate.
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We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope 
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was performed directly by the audit 
engagement team.

This is a change from the prior year where the scope of our audit included a full scope audit on the society’s only subsidiary,  
Bath Property Letting Limited, which has now been sold as disclosed in Note 18. 

£141,000 (2016: £156,000)

In 2016, materiality for the group was £171,000. Following the sale of the society’s 
only subsidiary, Bath Property Letting Limited during the year, as disclosed in Note 18, 
materiality has been reassessed on a society only basis.

5% (2016: 5%) of projected profit before tax. 

The accumulation of profits is critical to maintaining and building capital for regulatory 
purposes and allowing the society to invest in activities for its members. We have 
therefore selected profit before tax as the benchmark for determining materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £7,000 (2016: 
£8,000) for the society, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

Projected PBT £2,825k

Society materiality £141k

Audit Committee  
reporting threshold £7k

Projected PBT
Society materiality

Materiality

Basis for  
determining materiality

Rationale for the  
benchmark applied

Our application of materiality

An overview of the scope of our audit

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless  
the directors either intend to liquidate the society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s  
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

This report is made solely to the society’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the society and the society’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report including the Chairman’s Statement, Chief 
Executive’s Report, the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report, the Director’s Report on 
Corporate Governance, and the Report of the Directors on Remuneration, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,  
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect 
of these matters.

Responsibilities of directors

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Use of our report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the annual business statement and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building 

Societies Act 1986;
• the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 

with the financial statements; and
• the information given in the annual business statement (other than the information upon which we are not required to report) 

gives a true representation of the matters in respect of which it is given.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the society and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have  
not identified any material misstatements in the directors’ report.

In our opinion the information given on page 9 for the financial year ended 31st December 2017 has been properly prepared,  
in all material respects, in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Other matters

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents 

we require for our audit.

Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by The Members’ at the AGM, in 2004 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31st December 2005 and subsequent financial periods. Following a competitive tender process,  
we were reappointed as auditor of the Society for the period ending 31 December 2012 and subsequent financial periods. 

The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 13 years, covering the years 
ending 31st December 2005 to 31st December 2017.

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

Simon Cleveland (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Bristol, UK
9th March 2018

We have nothing to report in respect 
of these matters.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Capital Requirements  
(Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bath Investment & 
Building Society (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Building Societies Act 1986 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
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Interest receivable and similar income   3  9,573  10,166 

Interest payable and similar charges   4  (2,067) (2,659)

Net interest income    7,506  7,507 

    

Fees and commissions receivable   5  210  223 

Fees and commissions payable   6  (319) (317)

Net fee and commission income    (109) (94)

    

Other operating income    47 62 

Fair value gain/(loss) from financial instruments   7  351  (272)

Investment property – change in fair value   21  20  40 

Profit/(loss) on sale of investment property   21  15  - 

Income from subsidiary   18  330  - 

Net operating income    8,160  7,243 

    

Administrative expenses   8  (4,030) (3,588)

Depreciation and amortisation    (211) (182)

Operating expenses    (4,241) (3,770)

    

Impairment release/(loss) on loans and advances to customers   12  162  (17)

Provision for other liabilities and charges   26  (7) (58)

Profit/(loss) on sale of subsidiary   18  161 - 

Operating profit    4,235 3,398 

    

Taxation expense   11  (702) (673)

Profit for the year    3,533  2,725 

Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

All items dealt with in arriving at the profit before tax and the profit for the financial year relate to continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 32 to 53 form part of these accounts.

Notes
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2017

Notes

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Assets    

Liquid Assets:    

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England    47,891 36,125

Loans and advances to credit institutions   13  17,590 27,201

    65,481 63,326

    

Derivative financial instruments   14  162 97

    

Loans and advances to customers:    

Loans fully secured on residential property   15  227,684 213,692

Other loans fully secured on land   16  14,791 17,551

   17  242,475 231,243

    

Investment in subsidiary undertakings   18  - 254

Intangible fixed assets   19  263 238

Property, plant and equipment   20  2,523 2,457

Investment properties   21  385 695

Deferred tax assets   22  - - 

Prepayments and accrued income    420 288

Total Assets    311,709 298,598

   

Liabilities    

Shares   23  214,583 203,675

Deposits owed to other customers   24  62,883 63,978

Derivative financial instruments   14  198 485

Other liabilities   25  655 623

Deferred tax liability   22  63 64

Accruals and deferred income    227 173

Provisions for liabilities and charges   26  59 92

Total liabilities    278,668 269,090

    

Total equity attributable to members    33,041 29,508

Total equity and liabilities    311,709 298,598

Approved by the Board of Directors on 9 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 

Robert Derry-Evans
Chairman

Dick Jenkins
Chief Executive

Kevin Gray
Deputy Chief Executive

The notes on pages 32 to 53 form part of these accounts.
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As at 1 January 2016  26,435  46  26,481 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,725   -  2,725 

Revaluation of fixed assets in the year    -   377  377 

Deferred tax on revaluation reserve 22   -  (75) (75)

As at 31 December 2016  29,160  348  29,508 

As at 1 January 2017  29,160  348  29,508 

Total comprehensive income for the year  3,533   -  3,533 

As at 31 December 2017  32,693  348  33,041 

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes

General 
Reserve 

£000

General 
Reserve 

£000

Revaluation  
Reserve 

£000

Revaluation  
Reserve 

£000

Total equity 
attributable 

to Members 
£000

Total equity 
attributable 
to Members 

£000

As at 31 December 2016

As at 31 December 2017
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2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Profit on ordinary activities before tax  4,235  3,398 

Adjusted for:   

  Impairment (release)/loss on loans and advances to customers 12  (162) 17 

  Depreciation and amortisation  211  182 

  Change in value of investment property 21  (20) (40)

  Dividend from subsidiary 18  (330) -

  (Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets  (9) - 

  (Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties  (15) - 

  (Profit)/loss on disposal of sale of subsidiary 18  (161) - 

Cash generated from operations  3,749  3,557

   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   

   (Increase)/decrease in prepayments and accrued income  (5) (24)

 (Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers  (11,070) (4,333)

 Increase/(decrease) in accruals and deferred income  54  (73)

 Net increase in shares  10,908 4,817 

 Change in derivative financial instruments 14  (352) 309 

 Net increase/(decrease) in deposits owed to other customers  (1,095) (1,656)

 Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to credit institutions  500  (4,500)

 Net (decrease)/increase in other liabilities  (1) (136)

  Provisions for liabilities and charges 26  (33) (8)

  Taxation paid  (670) (676)

Net cash outflow from operating activities  1,985  (2,723)

   

Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  (313) (228)

Sale of property, plant and equipment  20  - 

Sale of Investment Properties  345  -

Dividend received from subsidiary  330  -

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 18  300  -

Net (purchase)/proceeds of debt securities issued by other borrowers  -  3,039 

Net cash flows from investing activities  682  2,811 

   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,667  88 

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  53,788  53,700 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  56,455  53,788 

   

Represented by:   

  Cash and balances with the Bank of England 30  47,891  36,125 

  Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 13  8,564  17,663 

    56,455  53,788 

Notes
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Notes to the Accounts
For the year ended 31 December 2017

1 Accounting policies   

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have  
been applied consistently throughout the year and to the preceding year. 
      
General information and basis of accounting 

The registered office of Bath Building Society is 15 Queen Square, 
Bath BA1 2HN. The nature of the Society’s operations and its principal 
activities are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 8 to 12.  
    
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern 
basis as outlined in the Directors’ Report.   
     
The functional currency of Bath Building Society is pounds Sterling.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Building Societies (Accounts and Relations Provisions) Regulations 1998.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical  
cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair value, and  
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102)  
issued by the Financial Reporting Council.   
      
Intangible assets – computer software
Website and computer software development costs, installation costs 
and licence fees are capitalised if it is probable that the assets created 
will generate future economic benefits. Where relevant costs are 
capitalised, they are amortised using the straight line method over their 
estimated useful lives which are 3 to 6 years. The amortisation periods 
are reviewed annually. Costs associated with establishing technical 
feasibility or to maintain software and existing levels of performance 
are expensed as they are incurred.    
  

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, less 
accumulated depreciation and less any impairment. Additions and 
subsequent expenditure are included in an asset’s carrying value 
or are recognised as a separate asset only when they improve the 
expected future economic benefits to be derived from the asset.  
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is provided 
using the straight line method to allocate costs less residual values 
over estimated useful lives, as follows:    
      
Freehold property  1% per annum  
Leasehold  term of lease  
Fixtures and fittings  10% – 25% per annum  
Computer   25% per annum  
Motor vehicles  25% per annum  
    
All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income 
statement in the period in which they are incurred.   
      
Investment properties 

Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields and capital 
appreciation. Investment properties for which fair values can be 
measured reliably without undue cost or effort on an ongoing basis 
are measured at fair value annually with any changes being recognised 
in the income statement relating to the period in which they arise. 
Depreciation is not charged on investment properties.

Revaluation of properties

Individual freehold and leasehold properties that are used in the 
Society’s business are revalued to fair value every 5 years with an 
interim revaluation carried out in the third year after the full revaluation. 
The surplus or deficit on revaluation is transferred to the revaluation 
reserve, except where a deficit is in excess of any previously 
recognised surplus over depreciated cost relating to the same 
property, or the reversal of such a deficit, when the amount is  
charged (or credited) to the income statement.

Measurement of financial instruments  

The Society has adopted in full Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102  
with regards to accounting for financial instruments. These sections 
classify financial instruments as being either ‘basic financial 
instruments’ or ‘other financial instruments’.
   
Basic financial instruments  

This category includes non-derivative financial assets and liabilities.  
It applies to cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England, 
loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities issued by 
other borrowers, loans and advances to customers, shares, and 
deposits owed to other customers. Basic financial instruments are 
initially recognised at transaction price, including transaction costs. 
Assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
which is the present value of a financial instrument’s future cash  
flows discounted at its effective interest rate. The interest income  
or expense in a period equals the carrying amount at the  
beginning of a period multiplied by the effective interest rate. 
 
Financial assets in this category that are measured at cost or 
amortised cost are assessed annually for evidence of impairment. 
Impairments are determined using an incurred loss model.  
For assets measured at amortised cost, an impairment loss is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. For assets measured at cost, impairment is 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
best estimate of the amount that would be received if the asset  
was sold at the reporting date.  

Other financial instruments 

This category covers derivative financial assets and liabilities.  
The Society utilises derivative financial instruments to reduce  
interest rate risk arising from offering fixed rate mortgage and  
savings products. The Society uses derivative financial instruments for 
economic hedging purposes only. Derivatives are initially recognised  
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into.  
They are subsequently re-measured at fair value and are carried as 
assets when their fair values are positive and liabilities when their fair 
values are negative. Changes in values are reflected in the income 
statement within the ‘Fair value gains less losses from financial 
instruments’ caption. The initial transaction costs associated with 
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement. Fair value  
is determined in the manner described in Note 30.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)  
  
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

The Society assesses at the date of each statement of financial 
position whether, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after initial recognition, there is objective evidence that loans and 
advances to customers are impaired. Evidence of impairment may 
include indication that borrowers are experiencing significant financial 
difficulties, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments  
and loans being restructured to reduce the burden on borrowers.

The Society considers a loan to be in default if it is 6 or more  
months in arrears or if a trigger event has occurred that results in 
a very high likelihood of a loan moving into this arrears position. 
An individual impairment test is undertaken for all loans that are 
categorised as being in default. The impairment loss is measured  
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The resultant allowances for impairment have 
been deducted from the appropriate asset values in the statement  
of financial position.

Loans that are not in default are considered for collective impairment.  
An estimate of the probability of loans moving into default and the 
likelihood of losses crystallising given default is calculated each  
year-end. For loans that are not past due, a historical assessment of loans 
moving into arrears is considered over an emergence period of  
12 months in order to capture loss events that have been incurred at 
balance sheet date but where arrears have not yet been reported. 
  

Taxation   

The tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax. 
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at amounts 
expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable 
on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.  
In contrast, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent  
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Both current and deferred tax balances are calculated using tax  
rates applicable at the date the statement of financial position.
      
Pension costs 

The Society operates an externally managed, defined contribution 
personal pension scheme in respect of staff, under which the costs of 
the Society’s contributions are charged to the income and expenditure 
account in the year in which the pensionable salary is earned.  
   
Leasing 

All rental payments under operating lease contracts are charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  

    
Interest receivable and similar income

The Society uses the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method to recognise 
interest receivable from all basic financial instruments including cash in 
hand and balances with the Bank of England, on loans and advances 
to credit institutions, on debt securities issued by other borrowers, and 
on loans and advances to customers. The net expense on derivative 
financial instruments is recognised on an accruals basis.  
 
Interest payable and similar charges  

The Society uses the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method to recognise 
interest payable from all basic financial instruments including shares 
and deposits owed to other customers.  
 
Fees and commissions receivable

Fees receivable from the Society’s mortgage business that are  
integral to the yield on mortgage loans are included within interest 
receivable and are recognised using the asset’s Effective Interest  
Rate at inception. Other mortgage fees receivable are recognised 
within fees and commissions receivable in the same period as  
their related expenses, or otherwise they are recognised on a  
receipts basis. Commissions received by the Society relating  
to a transferred back book of homes and contents insurance  
policies are recognised on a receipts basis.  

Fees and commissions payable

Mortgage fees payable that are integral to the yield on mortgage 
loans are included within the effective interest rate calculation for 
revenue recognition. Other mortgage fees payable are recognised 
within fees and commissions payable in the same period as any 
related fee income. Commissions paid to investment introducers 
and branch agents are not considered to form part of the effective 
interest cost of shares and deposits and are therefore included within 
fees and commissions payable on an accruals basis. Other fees and 
commissions payable are recognised on an accruals basis.

Other operating income

Other operating income comprises rent receivable from the letting 
of investment property and management fees received from the 
Society’s subsidiary business. Income is included in the accounts  
on an accruals basis.

 

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and critical accounting estimates

The Society has to make judgements in applying its accounting 
policies which affect the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. In addition, estimates and assumptions are made  
that could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities  
within the following financial year.

The most significant areas where judgements in applying accounting 
policies are made are as follows:
    
Effective Interest Rate (EIR)   

The Society is required to use the EIR method to recognise interest 
and net fee income from mortgage contracts over the estimated 
behavioural lives of mortgage products. An EIR calculation should 
ideally incorporate all expected cash flows in a single model for best 
results. The Society has judged that materially correct EIR outcomes 
can however be derived by combining the outputs from a 3 stage 
model that combines separate calculations of interest, applicable  
fees and early release charges.    
     
Measurement of financial instruments 

The EIR calculations result in unamortised loan origination fees  
which are deducted from gross mortgage balances (see Note 15).  
The Society has judged that these unamortised fees relate solely  
to loans fully secured on residential property.

The most significant areas where estimates and assumptions are 
made are as follows:

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

In accordance with the accounting policy on the impairment of loans 
and advances to customers that are carried at amortised cost, a loss 
is measured as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of its estimated future cash flows discounted  
at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
   
Key estimates included in the measurement of the collective  
allowance for impairment are the probability of any account going  
into default and the likely scale of losses in the event of forced sales  
or write offs. These estimates are based on observed historical data 
and are updated as management considers appropriate to reflect 
current and future conditions. The accuracy of the collective allowance 
for impairment would therefore be affected by unexpected changes  
in these estimates. The collective allowance for impairment includes  
an element for loss trigger events that have occurred at the date of  
the statement of financial position but where arrears have not yet  
been reported. A loss emergence period of 12 months has been  
used in the calculation of this Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) 
element of the collective allowance for impairment. If the loss 
emergence period was increased to 24 months, it is estimated  
that there would be no impact on the IBNR element of the  
collective allowance for impairment.

Estimates of forced sale discounts and disposal costs are used in  
the calculation of individual allowances for impairment. Any future 
increase in either of these estimates will result in higher individual 
allowances for impairment. Estimates of the market value of properties 
associated with defaulting loans are derived from either historic or 
current external valuations. The actual proceeds that will be received 
from property disposals is inherently uncertain. If the forced sale 
discounts were to increase by 5%, it is estimated that the increase 
in stated individual impairments would be £10,000. If disposal costs 
were to increase by 0.5%, it is estimated that the increase in stated 
individual impairments would be £4,000.

Expected future cash flows from defaulting loans are discounted over 
a period of 12 months. This takes account of the time to sell a property 
and the associated time value of money. If this period were to increase  
to 18 months, the increase in stated individual impairments would  
be £16,000. If the discount rate applied were to increase by 0.5%,  
the increase in stated individual impairments would be £4,000.
 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  
Derivative financial instruments are valued by discounted cash flow 
models using yield curves that are based on observable market data. 
Changes in the assumptions used in this model could affect the 
reported fair value of derivative financial instruments.  
 
Effective Interest Rate (EIR)   

The Society uses the EIR method to recognise interest and net fee 
income from mortgage contracts over the estimated behavioural lives 
of mortgage products. Product behavioural lives are calculated from 
historic data. The EIR method requires upfront mortgage fees to be 
spread over product behavioural lives and for income to be  
accrued over product behavioural lives to cover future cash receipts 
that are expected to materialise from fees associated with future 
mortgage redemptions. A decrease of 1 year in the estimates of 
product behavioural lives applying to 2017 would have decreased  
the value of loans and advances secured on residential property  
in the statement of financial position by £12,169.

The impact of a 10% increase in the anticipated level of future early 
redemption charges from mortgage products would result in an 
increase in the value of loans and advances secured on residential 
property of £4,386 in the statement of financial position.

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3. Interest receivable and similar income  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

On loans fully secured on residential property   8,884  9,059 

On other loans fully secured on land   810  946 

On other liquid assets:   

  Interest and similar income   217  395 

Net expense on derivative financial instruments   (338) (234)

    9,573 10,166 

4. Interest payable and similar charges  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

On shares held by individuals   1,664  2,064 

On deposits owed to other customers   403  595 

    2,067  2,659 

5. Fees and commissions receivable  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Mortgage related fees   195  210 

Other fees and commissions   15  13 

    210  223 

6. Fees and commissions payable  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Mortgage related fees   136  142 

Commission to investment agents and introducers   174  171 

Other fees and commissions   9  4 

    319  317 

7. Fair value gains less losses from financial instruments  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Change in fair value of derivative financial assets   67  77 

Change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities   284  (349)

    351  (272)

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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8. Administrative expenses

Wages and salaries   1,882  1,758 

Social security costs   211  204 

Other pension costs   89  82 

    2,182  2,044 

Other administrative expenses:   1,848  1,544 

Total administrative expenses   4,030  3,588 

     

Other administrative expenses include:   £000 £000

   

Auditor remuneration:   

 For audit of the Society’s annual accounts   71 48 

 Total audit fees   71 48

  

 Assurance services other than the auditing of the Society’s accounts   19 - 

 Total auditor remuneration   90  48 

   

Operating lease charges:   

 Land and buildings   86  86 

 Office equipment   10  9 

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

9. Employees

Full-time 
2017

Full-time 
2016 

Head Office 36  38  7  7 

Branches 8  6  4  5 

Total Society 44  44  11  12 

Part-time 
2017

Part-time 
2016 

The average monthly number of staff employed during the year was:
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Factors affecting tax charge for the year

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax   4,235  3,398 

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by   

Effective rate of corporation tax of 19.25% (2016: 20%)   815  680 

    

Effects of:  

Adjustments in respect of prior years   1  5 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes   6 3 

Income not taxable   (120) -

Effect of rate changes   - (15)

Total tax charge for the year   702 673 

 

10. Directors’ emoluments and transactions with Directors  
2017

£
2016 

£

a) Remuneration of Directors    

For services as Non-Executive Directors   152,397  147,961 

For Executive services   412,771  327,537 

   565,168  475,498 

Full details are given in the Report of the Directors on Remuneration on pages 19 and 20.     

b) Transactions with Directors and connected persons    
 
Mortgage Loans         

At 31 December 2017 there were no outstanding mortgage loans to Directors (2016: 0).    
         
The register, required to be maintained under Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986 detailing all loans, transactions and arrangements with 
Directors and their connected persons, is held at the Society’s Head Office. It is available for inspection, by members, in normal office hours by 
arrangement with the Society’s Secretary, during the period of 15 days prior to the Annual General Meeting and at the Annual General Meeting.  
       
Related Party Transactions           

There were no transactions with Directors that constituted related party transactions.       
  

11. Taxation  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Current Tax:    

Corporation tax at 19.25% (2016: 20%)   700 646 

Adjustments in respect of prior years   4 50 

Deferred Tax:   

Current year   2 36 

Adjustments in respect of prior years   (4) (44)

Effect of rate changes   - (15)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities   702 673 

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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12. Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

In 2017, the Society charged and utilised £20,000 (2016: £821,000) of individual impairment allowances associated with the crystallisation of a loss from  
the disposal of 1 property under mortgage. 1 continuing loan improved its arrears position to move out of default and this resulted in the release of £33,000 
of individual impairment allowances. 1 continuing defaulting loan was reassessed for impairment after an updated property valuation was obtained and  
this resulted in the release of £15,000 of individual impairment allowances. 2 other continuing defaulting loans required further individual impairment  
charges of £23,000 to be made. 2 new cases moved into default in 2017 requiring individual impairment charges of £30,000 to be made. In 2017,  
the propensity for loans fully secured on residential property to progress from low arrears into default increased but the level of these loans in arrears  
as at 31 December 2017 was significantly lower than at 31 December 2016. These combined effects resulted in a £88,000 release of associated 
collective impairment allowance. The propensity for loans fully secured on land to progress from low arrears into default remained relatively static  
over 2017 however the level of these loans in arrears had reduced to zero by 31 December 2017 requiring a release of all of the associated  
collective impairment allowance of £99,000.

2017   

At 1 January 2017:   

Collective impairment  163  99  262 

Individual impairment  830  227  1,057 

   993  326  1,319 

   

Income and expenditure account charge/(credit) for the year:   

Collective impairment  (88) (99) (187)

Individual impairment  10  15  25 

   (78) (84) (162)

   

Amount utilised during the year:   

Collective impairment  -  -  - 

Individual impairment  (20) -  (20)

   (20) -  (20)

   

At 31 December 2017:   

Collective impairment  75  -  75 

Individual impairment  820  242  1,062 

   895  242  1,137 

2016     

At 1 January 2016:   

Collective impairment  194  59  253 

Individual impairment  1,658  212  1,870 

   1,852  271  2,123 

Income and expenditure account charge/(credit) for the year:   

Collective impairment  (31) 40  9 

Individual impairment  (7) 15  8 

   (38) 55  17 

Amount utilised during the year:   

Collective impairment  -  -  - 

Individual impairment  (821) -  (821)

   (821) -  (821)

At 31 December 2016:   

Collective impairment  163  99  262 

Individual impairment  830  227  1,057 

   993  326  1,319 

Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 

property 
£000 

Loans fully 
secured  
on land 

£000
Total 
£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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13. Loans and advances to credit institutions

14. Derivative financial instruments

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Accrued interest   26  38 

Repayable on demand   8,614  17,473 

Repayable within three months   5,500  2,500 

Repayable in more than three months and less than one year   3,500  7,000 

Credit Support Annex (CSA) assets/(liabilities)   (50) 190 

   17,590 27,201 

Derivative assets:    

Interest rate swaps 32,465  14,765  162   97 

Total recognised derivative assets 32,465  14,765  162   97  

   

Derivative liabilities:    

Interest rate swaps 42,065  46,015  (198) (485)

Total recognised derivative liabilities 42,065  46,015  (198) (485)

Repayable from the date of the statement of financial position in the ordinary course of business:

The International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement is the Society’s preferred agreement for documenting derivative activity.  
For certain counterparties a Credit Support Annex (CSA) has been executed in conjunction with the ISDA Master Agreement. Under a CSA,  
cash collateral is passed between counterparties to mitigate the market contingent counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding positions.  
As at 31 December 2017, £50,000 had been received (2016: £190,000 pledged).

Interest rate swaps are used by the Society for hedging interest rate risk that is associated with fixed rate products (mortgages and savings).  
These are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. No exchange of principal takes place.

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Over 2017, the overall net liability from derivative financial instruments decreased by £352,000 from £388,000 to £36,000.

 
2017 
£000

 
2016 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Fair valueNotional amount

15. Loans fully secured on residential property  
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Gross balances   228,460  214,736 

Allowance for impairment   (895) (993)

Unamortised loan origination fees   119 (51)

   227,684  213,692 
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16. Other loans fully secured on land

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

2016 
£000

Gross balances   15,033  17,877 

Allowance for impairment   (242) (326)

   14,791  17,551 

17. Loans and advances to customers

On call and at short notice   1,672  419

In not more than three months   1,145  1,352 

In more than three months but not more than one year   5,331  4,114 

In more than one year but not more than five years   29,068  13,540 

In more than five years   206,277  213,188 

   243,493  232,613 

Allowances for impairment (see note 12)   (1,137) (1,319)

Unamortised loan origination fees   119  (51)

   242,475  231,243 

The remaining contractual maturity of loans and advances secured on residential property and other loans fully secured on land from the date of the 
statement of financial position is as follows:

The above table may not reflect actual experience of repayments since many mortgage loans are repaid early.

The Society participates in the Bank of England’s Sterling Monetary Framework. The Society places a proportion of its total portfolio of mortgage 
loans with the bank to be held as collateral against funds drawn from the bank’s liquidity arrangements. The portfolio of loans prepositioned with 
the bank are not currently encumbered.

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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18. Investment in subsidiary undertakings

a) Investment in Bath Property Letting Limited

After a strategic review of its subsidiary business, on the 21 November 2017 the Society sold its 100 per cent interest in the ordinary share capital  
of Bath Property Letting Limited to Leaders Romans Group, a national chain of property letting agents.

b) Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertaking

Prior to the date of disposal, the Directors of Bath Property Letting Limited agreed to issue a dividend of £330,000 to Bath Building Society and this 
was paid on 13 November 2017.

Movements during the year were as follows:   

At 1 January 2017:  250,000  4,139  254,139 

Net loans   -  (4,139) (4,139)

Disposal of share holding  (250,000) -  (250,000)

Net book value at 31 December 2017  -  -  - 

     

Net book value at 31 December 2016  250,000  4,139  254,139 

Sale proceeds    300,000 

Deferred consideration    111,135 

Carrying value of investment at date of disposal    (250,000)

Profit on disposal    161,135 

Shares 
£ 

Loans 
£

Total 
£

 
£

19. Intangible fixed assets

Computer software includes website and software development costs, implementation costs and licences.

At cost or valuation    

At 1 January 2017    1,261 

Additions     131 

Disposals     (4)

At 31 December 2017    1,388 

    

Accumulated amortisation    

At 1 January 2017    1,023 

Charge     104 

Disposals     (2)

At 31 December 2017    1,125 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2017    263 

At 31 December 2016    238 

Computer 
software 

£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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20. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
premises

£000

Leasehold
premises

(short)
£000

Equipment,
fixtures and 
fittings and  

vehicles
£000

Total
£000

At cost or valuation   

At 1 January 2017: 2,290  64  732  3,086 

Additions -  -  182  182 

Disposals -  -  (46) (46)

At 31 December 2017 2,290  64  868  3,222  

    

Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January 2017: -  64  565  629 

Charge 15  -  92  107 

Disposals -  -  (37) (37)

At 31 December 2017 15  64  620  699  

   

Net book value     

At 31 December 2017 2,275  -  248  2,523 

At 31 December 2016 2,290  -  167  2,457 

An external revaluation of all the Society’s freehold and leasehold land and buildings was last conducted as at 31 December 2016 by  
Derek Walker Chartered Surveyors. The valuation of properties used in the Society’s business was prepared using a fair values basis.  
As at 31 December 2016, there was no material difference between the market value of the properties and the valuation obtained using  
fair values. The Society conducts a full external revaluation every 5 years with an interim valuation conducted 3 years after each full revaluation.

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Land and buildings
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21. Investment properties  
2017 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

2016 
£000

At 1 January   695  655 

Disposals   (330) -

Fair value adjustment   20  40 

At 31 December   385  695 

Within 1 year   32  36 

Between 1 and 5 years   30  49 

At 31 December   62  85 

The investment properties consist of surplus ground floor commercial premises that are no longer used in the Society’s businesses plus associated first 
floor residential flats. All of the investment properties are located in the City of Bath. Estimates of market values are obtained annually from Derek Walker, 
Chartered Surveyors, Bath.

In 2017, the Society disposed of its surplus commercial and residential premises at Larkhall and Combe Down, Bath. A £15,000 profit on disposal was 
recognised for Larkhall. Disposal proceeds for Combe Down equalled recorded fair value and therefore there was no profit or loss on disposal recognised. 
 
The total future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases relating to investment properties were as set out below:

23. Shares
All shares are held by individuals. In the ordinary course of business, the repayment of share balances from the date of the statement of financial 
position is as follows:

Accrued interest   293  435 

Repayable on demand   197,776  185,824 

In not more than 3 months   6,157  7,261 

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year   10,357  10,155 

   214,583  203,675 

22. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 1 January   (64) (12)

Adjustments in respect of prior years   4 44 

Charge to profit and loss account   (3)  (21)

Charge to revaluation reserve   - (75)

Deferred tax liability at 31 December   (63) (64)

   

The elements of deferred taxation are as follows:   

Fixed asset timing differences   93 (166)

Short-term timing differences   (156)  102 

Deferred tax liability   (63) (64)

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

From 1 April 2017, the main rate of corporation tax was reduced to 19%. Further reductions to 18% (effective 1 April 2020) were substantively  
enacted on 26 October 2015, and an additional reduction to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016.  
This will reduce the company’s future current tax charge accordingly. Any deferred tax at 31 December 2017 has been calculated based on  
the rate of 17% being the rate substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.



44

25. Other liabilities

Amounts falling due within 1 year:    

Income tax   -  1 

Corporation tax   380  347 

Other taxation and social security   61  59 

Other creditors   214  216 

   655  623 

26. Provisions for liabilities
Provision for 
dilapidations 

£000

Financial 
Services 

Compensation 
£000

Provision for  
customers 

redress 
£000

Total
£000

At 1 January 2017 32  40  20  92 

Charge for the year 20  19  -  39 

Release of provision (12) -  (20) (32)

Paid in the year -  (40) -  (40)

At 31 December 2017 40  19  -  59 

The £20,000 charge for dilapidations relates to the Society’s leased business premises at Wood Street, Bath. This provision will likely be utilised if 
the Society exits these premises. The release of £12,000 of provisions for dilapidations relates to business premises at Southgate, Bath, occupied 
by the Society’s subsidiary company, Bath Property Letting Limited. The Society disposed of its subsidiary business in 2017 and the associated 
dilapidations commitment has now ceased. The release of the provision for customer redress is no longer considered as being required.  
See Note 29 on page 45 re the provision for liabilities to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme.

As at 31 December 2017, the Society had approximately 13 years of commitments remaining relating to a full repairing lease over its branch 
premises at 3 Wood Street, Bath. 

27. Commitments
At 31 December 2017, the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as set out below:

2017 
Property  

£000

2016
Property 

£000

Society commitments:    

Within 1 year   86   86 

Between 1 and 5 years   344  344 

After 5 years   676  762 

    1,106   1,192 

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

24. Deposits owed to other customers

Accrued interest   -  2 

Repayable on demand   49,922  47,173 

In not more than 3 months   3,217  239 

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year   9,744  16,564 

   62,883  63,978 

In the normal course of business, deposits owed to other customers are repayable from the date of the statement of financial position as follows:
 

2017 
£000

2016 
£000
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

29. Contingent liabilities

Financial Services Compensation Scheme

Payments in respect of levies to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme are made in each fiscal year, based on the Society’s  
share of protected Scheme deposits at the start of each calendar year. The Society’s liability to the Scheme consists of 3 elements, namely a 
management levy, a capital shortfalls levy and a levy contribution to the resolution costs in respect of the bailout of the Dunfermline Building 
Society. The management levy is calculated based on an applicable interest rate of 12-month LIBOR plus one hundred basis points. As at 31 
December 2017, the Society had paid over £877,847 to the Scheme relating to the period covered by fiscal years 2007/08 through to 2017/18.  
A further provision of £18,855 has been made in the current year to ensure that the Society is fully provided against all estimates of current  
levy liabilities. The Society has provided against liabilities to the Scheme using best estimates of the level of its current expected exposure. 
There exists a level of uncertainty as to the Society’s precise exposure to the scheme for fiscal year 2017/18 but the Society estimates that it 
remains liable for further commitments covering fiscal year 2017/18 totalling £19,075. Furthermore, there is uncertainty over the future duration 
of the current Scheme and as to the level of future interest rates that would apply. There is also uncertainty as to whether the Society will  
have any further liability to the Scheme if projected capital shortfalls should increase and what the scale of those liabilities would likely be.  
The final capital shortfall from the bailout of the Bradford & Bingley is not known.   

28. Pension schemes

During the year ended 31 December 2017 the Society operated a defined contribution personal pension scheme in respect of staff, and the 
charge for the year was £89,520 (2016: £91,060). As at 31 December 2017 there were outstanding contributions of £7,566 (2016: £7,651).
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

As at 31 December 2016

At amortised  
cost 

£000

Fair value  
through profit  

and loss 
£000

Total 
£000

    

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England  36,125   -  36,125 

Loans and advances to credit institutions  27,201   -  27,201 

Derivative financial instruments   -  97  97 

Loans and advances to customers  231,243   -  231,243 

Total financial assets  294,569  97  294,666 

Total non-financial assets    3,932 

Total Society assets    298,598 

Society liabilities    

Shares  203,675   -  203,675 

Deposits owed to other customers  63,978   -  63,978 

Derivative financial instruments   -  485  485 

Total financial liabilities  267,653  485  268,138 

Total non-financial liabilities    952 

General reserve and other reserves    29,508 

Total Society reserves and liabilities    298,598 

30. Financial instruments

a) Categories of financial instruments
 
Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost.   
 
The accounting policies note describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair 
value gains and losses, are recognised. The following tables analyse the financial assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position  
by the class of financial instrument to which they are assigned and by the measurement basis.

As at 31 December 2017

Society assets  

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England  47,891   -  47,891 

Loans and advances to credit institutions  17,590   -  17,590 

Derivative financial instruments   -  162  162 

Loans and advances to customers  242,475   -  242,475 

Total financial assets  307,956  162  308,118 

Total non-financial assets    3,591 

Total Society assets    311,709 

Society liabilities    

Shares  214,583   -  214,583 

Deposits owed to other customers  62,883   -  62,883 

Derivative financial instruments   -  198  198 

Total financial liabilities  277,466  198  277,664 

Total non-financial liabilities    1,004 

General reserve and other reserves    33,041 

Total Society reserves and liabilities    311,709 

At amortised 
cost 

£000

Fair value 
through profit 

and loss 
£000

Total 
£000
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30. Financial instruments (continued)

b) Carrying values and fair values 

The table below compares carrying values and fair values of the Society’s financial instruments by category. It is accompanied by an explanation 
of the methods used to determine fair value.

Note

Society assets 

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England i. 47,891  47,891  36,125  36,125 

Loans and advances to credit institutions – excluding CSA deposits/(receipts) i. 17,640  17,640  27,011  27,011 

CSA deposits/(receipts)  (50) (50) 190  190 

Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps ii. 162  162  97  97 

Loans and advances to customers iii. 242,475  243,646  231,243  232,415 

  308,118  309,289  294,666  295,838 

Society liabilities    

Shares iv. 214,583  214,583  203,675  203,675 

Deposits owed to other customers iv. 62,883  62,883  63,978  63,978 

Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps ii. 198  198  485  485 

  277,664  277,664  268,138  268,138 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. The following methods and assumptions have been applied in determining fair value:

i) The carrying amount of cash in hand, balances with the Bank of England and loans and advances to credit institutions with a maturity of under  
12 months is assumed to equate to their fair value.

ii) All derivatives are held for economic hedging purposes. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by utilising discounted cash flow  
valuation models.

iii) The fair value of loans and advances to customers is assumed to approximate to the discounted amount of future cash flows that are expected  
to be received after taking account of provisions for expected future impairments, expected levels of early repayment and discounting at current 
market rates.

iv) The fair value of customer share and deposit accounts on fixed term arrangements represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash 
flows expected to be paid. The fair value of shares and deposits on instant access terms are assumed to approximate to the amount payable at the 
date of the statement of financial position.

 
2016 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

2017 
£000

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

Fair 
value

Fair 
value



48

30. Financial instruments (continued)

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

c) Credit risk on loans and advances to customers    
 
The classes of financial instruments to which the Society is most exposed to credit risk are loans and advances to customers, loans and 
advances to credit institutions, debt securities and financial derivatives. Credit risk relating to retail mortgages and commercial mortgages is 
described in this section. Credit risk relating to treasury financial instruments is described in section d).  

Credit Risk Management    

Experienced credit and risk functions operate within the Society and are driven by both the recognised need to manage the potential and actual 
risk but also by the need to continually develop new processes to ensure sound decisions are made in the future. In this way, any variations in risk 
from market, economic or competitive changes are identified and the appropriate controls are developed and put in place.

Comprehensive management information on movements and performance within the various loan portfolios ensures that credit risk is effectively 
controlled, and any adverse trends are identified before they impact on performance. Society performance is also measured against the industry 
where appropriate to identify where debt default levels are out of line with that of the industry average. The management information is distributed 
across the Society and monitored within tight boundaries at Board and Board sub-committees.

The Society has managed all types of credit risk in a consistent manner as previous years. However, the range and depth of credit risk 
management information has been enhanced during the year.

The exposure to retail credit risk relating to loans and advances to customers comprises the following:     
    

2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

2016 
%

Retail mortgages  221,956  91.2 208,042  89.4 

Commercial mortgages  21,537  8.8 24,571  10.6 

Total gross exposure (contractual amounts)  243,493  100.0 232,613  100.0 

     

Impairment, fair value and EIR adjustments  (1,018)  (1,370) 

Total net exposure  242,475   231,243  

i) Retail mortgages   

Retail mortgages are defined by the Society as being loans made to private individuals that are secured against properties that are not used for 
commercial purposes. The retail mortgage balance shown above of £221,956,000 (2016: £208,042,000) consists of total loans fully secured on 
residential property (FSRP) of £228,460,000 (2016: £214,736,000) less £6,806,000 (2016: £7,001,000) of loans FSRP to limited companies plus 
£302,000 (2016: £307,000) of loans fully secured on land (FSOL) made to private individuals.

The Society is firmly committed to the management of credit risk at all stages of the lending cycle. The Society closely monitors customer loan 
affordability and LTV multiples at the application stage. It employs appropriate underwriting and fraud detection techniques to minimise losses once 
loans have been approved, and it also takes a proactive approach to the control of bad and doubtful debt which is managed by individuals with 
experience and skills appropriate to the collections and recovery process.

Risk concentrations: retail mortgage balances     
The Society provides retail mortgages secured on residential property across England and Wales and the Society, as a local building society,  
has a geographical concentration in the South West of England. As at 31 December 2017, approximately 43% (2016: 46%) of first charge retail  
loans by account and 42% (2016: 46%) by value were concentrated in the South West.

Loan-to-value distribution: retail mortgage balances
Loan to value (LTV) is one of the main factors used to determine the credit quality of retail loans secured on residential property. Index linked LTV banding  
is shown below:  

 
2017 

%
2016 

%

Less than 70%    63.9  67.3 

More than 70% but less than 80%    18.1  17.1 

More than 80% but less than 90%    8.5  9.2 

More than 90% but less than 100%    8.9  5.8 

More than 100%    0.6  0.6 

    100.0  100.0 
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c) Credit risk on loans and advances to customers (continued) 

i) Retail mortgages (continued)   

The overall indexed loan-to-value of the retail mortgage portfolio is 49.8% (2016: 48.7%). In general the lower the loan-to-value percentage the 
greater the borrowers’ equity within the property and the lower the losses expected to be realised in the event of default or repossession.

Payment due status of retail mortgage balances
The table below provides further information on the Society’s loans and advances to customers secured by way of retail mortgages on  
residential property. The balances exclude fair value adjustments and impairment allowances.     
   

Fair value of collateral held for retail mortgages 

The Society holds collateral against loans and advances to retail customers in the form of mortgage interests over property.  
Collateral values are updated at the date of each statement of financial position based on data from the quarterly Halifax price index. 

As at 31 December 2017, the total collateral held against retail lending secured against residential property was estimated to be £445.9m  
(2016: £426.8m). Any collateral surplus on the sale of repossessed properties, after a deduction for costs incurred in relation to the sale,  
is returned to the borrower.

£Nil (2016: £Nil) of collateral was held against retail mortgage cases in possession. Repossessed properties are made available for sale  
in accordance with statutory guidelines with proceeds used to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. The Society has a statutory duty  
to obtain the best reasonable price and to sell as soon as it reasonably can.

Allowances for impairment are held against loans and advances to customers in line with the accounting policy which is outlined in Note 1. 
Allowances for impairment of retail mortgage loans are as follows:     
   

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

 
2017 
£000

2016 
%

2016 
£000

Current  215,534  97.1  201,065  96.7 

Past due up to 3 months  4,479  2.0  4,626  2.2 

Past due 3 to 6 months  143  0.1  469  0.2 

Past due 6 to 12 months  1,513  0.7  1,633  0.8 

Past due over 12 months  287  0.1  249  0.1 

  221,956  100.0  208,042  100.0 

Individual impairment    820  830 

Collective impairment    75  163 

    895  993 

30. Financial instruments (continued)

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

c) Credit risk on loans and advances to customers (continued)

30. Financial instruments (continued)

Forbearance strategies on retail loans 

The Society uses forbearance techniques to help some retail borrowers through periods where their finances have become stressed and where 
the servicing of their normal mortgage commitments has become difficult. Definitions of forbearance are consistent with the FSA’s paper entitled 
‘Forbearance and Impairment Provisions – Mortgages’ issued in October 2011. As a result of this paper, the arrears management section of the 
Society’s Mortgage Department now maintains forbearance information which is reported regularly to the Society’s Credit Committee. In 2017,  
2 (2016: 2) retail accounts with balances totalling £188,515 (2016: £198,431) in value were granted forbearance concessions. As at 31 December 
2017, 10 (2016: 11) retail accounts with balances totalling £2,654,381 (2016: £3,252,493) remained on special payment arrangements plus a 
further 2 (2016: 2) retail accounts with a balance totalling £158,433 (2016: £382,554) remained on concessionary interest only terms following 
the occurrence of impairment alerts. The Society takes full consideration of the impact on its arrears position from using these forbearance 
techniques and the potential for losses on these retail accounts is assessed and considered in setting the level of allowances for impairment  
held against the retail mortgage portfolio.

ii) Commercial mortgages

Commercial mortgages are defined by the Society as being loans made to either limited companies or to private individuals that are secured 
against properties that are primarily used for the purposes of running businesses. The commercial mortgage balance shown on page 48  
of £21,537,000 (2016: £24,571,000) consists of total loans fully secured on land (FSOL) of £15,033,000 (2016: £17,877,000) less £302,000  
(2016: £307,000) of loans FSOL to private individuals plus £6,806,000 (2016: £7,001,000) of loans fully secured on residential property  
(FSRP) made to limited companies.

Commercial lending activity is split between lending to businesses investing in residential property and lending to businesses investing  
in commercial property.     
   
Risk concentrations: commercial lending

The Society’s commercial loan portfolio on a gross basis comprises the following:    

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

2016 
%

Loans secured on residential property  6,806  31.6  7,001  28.5 

Loans secured on commercial property  14,731  68.4  17,570  71.5 

  21,537  100.0  24,571  100.0 

Loans secured on commercial property are well diversified by industry type and counterparty. An analysis of commercial property loans by industry 
is provided below:

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

2016 
%

Office  2,387  16.2  2,908  16.5 

Retail  2,679  18.2  3,461  19.7 

Industrial  1,434  9.7  1,737  9.9 

Leisure  3,777  25.6  4,331  24.6 

Land  957  6.5  1,451  8.3 

Other  3,497  23.8  3,682  21.0 

  14,731  100.0  17,570  100.0 
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ii) Commercial mortgages (continued) 

 The Society provides loans secured on commercial property across England and Wales and the Society, as a local building society, has a 
geographic concentration in the South West. An analysis of loans secured on commercial property by geographic location is provided below:

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

2016 
%

South West  13,986  64.9  16,455  66.9 

South East  899  4.2  951  3.9 

Greater London  2,482  11.5  2,476  10.1 

Midlands  1,930  9.0  2,351  9.6 

Wales  201  0.9  200  0.8 

North  2,039  9.5  2,138  8.7 

  21,537  100.0  24,571  100.0 

Loan-to-value distribution: commercial lending

Estimates of current property values are used to calculate loan-to-values (LTVs). These are derived from recent external valuations or are 
estimated by applying quarterly Halifax price indices to previously recorded external valuations. The overall loan-to-value of the Society’s 
commercial portfolio is 44% (2016: 46%). Index linked LTV banding is shown below: 

As at 31 December 2017, the largest single commercial loan was £1.37m (2016: £1.37m) or 6.36% of gross balances. The largest combined exposure  
to a single commercial counterparty, who has multiple mortgages on different properties, was £1.17m (2016: £1.47m) or 5.43% of gross balances.  
    
Payment due status: commercial lending

The table below provides further information on the Society’s commercial loans and advances by payment due status as at 31 December 2017. 
The balances exclude fair value adjustments and impairment allowances.   

Fair value of collateral held: commercial lending    

The Society holds collateral against loans and advances to commercial customers in the form of mortgage interests over property. The current 
value of collateral is estimated based on the latest professional valuation adjusted for subsequent property price movements using the quarterly 
Halifax price index.   

As at 31 December 2017, the total collateral held against lending secured against commercial property was estimated to be £48.9m (2016: £53.6m).

 
2017 

%
2016 

%

Less than 70%    94.9  93.9 

More than 70% but less than 80%    3.7  3.8 

More than 90% but less than 100%    0.0  1.1 

More than 100%    1.4  1.2 

    100.0  100.0 

 
2017 
£000

 
2017 

%

 
2016 
£000

2016 
%

Current  20,140  93.5  21,811  88.8 

Past due up to 3 months  875  4.1  2,463  10.0 

Past due 6 to 12 months  210 1.0 -  0.0 

Past due over 12 months  312  1.4  297  1.2 

  21,537  100.0  24,571  100.0 

As at 31 December 2017, no commercial properties were in possession and hence no collateral was held against cases in possession  
(2016: £nil). Properties that are repossessed are made available for sale in accordance with statutory guidelines with proceeds used to reduce  
or repay outstanding loans. When repossessed properties are disposed of, the Society has a statutory duty to obtain the best reasonable  
prices and to sell properties as soon as it reasonably can.

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

c) Credit risk on loans and advances to customers (continued)

30. Financial instruments (continued)
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

Forbearance strategies on commercial loans 

See the note on the Society’s general forbearance strategy on page 50.

In 2017, no commercial accounts were granted forbearance concessions (2016: nil). As at 31 December 2017, no commercial accounts were on 
special payment arrangements. The Society takes full consideration of the impact on its arrears position, and hence the impact on its allowances 
for impairment, from the use of forbearance techniques.     
 

ii) Commercial mortgages (continued)

Allowances for impairment are held against loans and advances to customers in line with the accounting policy which is outlined in Note 1. 
Allowances for impairment of commercial mortgage loans are as follows:

None of the above exposures were either past due or impaired and there were no assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose 
terms have been renegotiated.

Collateral is not held over loans and advances to credit institutions and debt securities. Collateral of £50,000 has been received from (2016: £190,000 
pledged to) other financial institutions to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due to the Society relating to derivative financial instruments and is 
included within exposures to UK financial institutions in the table above.

d) Credit risk on treasury financial instruments

The classes of financial instruments to which the Society is most exposed to treasury credit risk are loans and advances to credit institutions, 
debt securities and financial derivatives. For financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position, the exposure to credit risk equals 
their carrying amount. The following table shows the Society’s estimated maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit enhancements. 

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

Individual impairment    242  227 

Collective impairment     -  99 

    242  326 

 
2017 
£000

2016 
£000

UK government securities and amounts held with central banks    47,803  36,004 

UK financial institutions    17,590  27,201 

    65,393  63,205 

30. Financial instruments (continued)

The table below shows treasury exposures broken down by Fitch ratings:
 

2017 
£000

2016 
£000

AAA to AA-    47,821  36,015 

A+ to A-    2,919  11,957 

BBB+ to BBB-    7,632  8,710 

Unrated    7,021  6,523 

    65,393  63,205 

c) Credit risk on loans and advances to customers (continued)



53

The Society’s treasury risk function monitors exposure concentrations against a variety of criteria including counterparty and country limits. 
With the exception of instant access treasury deposits with both the Bank of England and the primary UK based clearing banks, no material 
concentrations of treasury investments exist.

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are outlined in Note 27.

e) Liquidity risk    

The following tables analyse the gross contractual principal cash flows payable under financial liabilities. These balances do not agree  
directly to the balances in the statements of financial position as the tables incorporate only principal amounts and do not reflect accrued  
interest or fair value adjustments. 

Repayable 
on demand 

£000

Less than  
3 months 

£000

3 months to  
6 months 

£000

6 months to  
12 months 

£000

1 to 5 
years 
£000

Total 
£000

Society non derivative liabilities      

Shares  197,776  6,157  1,331  9,026  - 214,290 

Deposits owed to other customers  49,922  3,217  9,506  238  - 62,883 

  247,698  9,374  10,837  9,264  - 277,173 

Society derivative liabilities      

Interest rate swaps  -  5  13  85  95  198 

  -  5  13  85  95  198 

31 December 2017

Repayable 
on demand 

£000

Less than  
3 months 

£000

3 months to  
6 months 

£000

6 months to  
12 months 

£000

1 to 5 
years 
£000

Total 
£000

Society non derivative liabilities      

Shares  185,824  7,261  1,259  8,896  - 203,240 

Deposits owed to other customers  47,173  239  16,488  76  - 63,976 

  232,997  7,500  17,747  8,972  - 267,216 

Society derivative liabilities      

Interest rate swaps  -  -  -  22  463  485 

  -  -  -  22  463  485 

31 December 2016

f) Interest rate risk    

Interest rate risk refers to the sensitivity of net interest income to the periodic re-pricing of assets and liabilities and the imperfect correlation 
caused by basis risk. Interest rate risks generated by these activities are offset against each other, and the remaining net exposure to interest  
rate risk is managed on a continuous basis, within parameters set by Risk Committee, using a combination of derivatives and cash instruments 
(such as savings and deposits).

The Society’s exposure to interest rate risk in terms of the net risk after taking account of management’s action to hedge inherent  
exposures is measured using interest rate gap analysis. In this method each of the Society’s financial instruments including on and off  
the statement of financial position assets and liabilities is assigned to future time periods on the basis of their contractual maturity or  
contractual re-pricing arrangements. In calculating the net exposure for each future period, account is also taken of those assets and  
liabilities with embedded optionality, such as pipeline and prepayment risk on fixed rate mortgages. If there was a 2% parallel upward  
shift in interest rates the favourable impact on reserves would be £224,000 (2016: £227,000 favourable impact on reserves).  
 
   

Notes to the Accounts (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

d) Credit risk on treasury financial instruments (continued)

30. Financial instruments (continued)

The geographical distribution of treasury exposures is as follows:
 

2017 
£000

2016 
£000

UK    65,393  63,205 

    65,393  63,205 



54

1. Statutory percentages  

The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986.    
   
The Lending Limit measures the proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential property and is calculated  
as (X-Y)/X where:     
  
 X=   business assets, being the total assets of the Society, plus allowances for impairment of loans and advances, less liquid assets  

and tangible fixed assets as shown in the Society Balance Sheet.     
 

 Y=   the principal of, and interest accrued on, loans owed to the Society, as shown in the Society Balance Sheet, gross of allowances  
for impairment, which are fully secured on residential property.    
 

 The Funding Limit measures the proportion of shares and borrowings not in the form of shares held by individuals and is calculated as (X-Y)/X where: 
      
X=  shares and borrowings, being the aggregate of–    
    
 1.  the principal value of, and interest accrued on, shares in the Society; and     
  
 2.   the principal of, and interest accrued on, sums deposited with the Society; and  
  
 3.   the principal value of, and interest accrued under, instruments or agreements creating or acknowledging indebtedness and accepted, 

made, issued or entered into by the Society or any such undertaking less any amounts qualifying as own funds.  
  
 Y=   the principal value of, and interest accrued on, shares in the Society held by individuals otherwise than as bare trustees for bodies 

corporate or for persons who include bodies corporate.     
 

The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986, and ensure that the principal purpose of a building society  
is that of making loans which are secured on residential property and are funded substantially by its Members.

Annual Business Statement   
     For the year ended 31 December 2017

 
2017 

%

Statutory 
Limit 

%

Lending Limit    6.5 25.0

Funding Limit    22.7 50.0
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Annual Business Statement (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017

2. Other percentages  

The above percentages have been prepared from the Society accounts and in particular:     
    
* ‘  Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares and amounts owed to other customers.  

* ‘Gross capital’ represents the aggregate of general reserves and revaluation reserve.

*  ‘Free capital’ represents the aggregate of gross capital and the collective allowance for impairment of loans and advances less tangible  
fixed assets.

*  ‘Liquid assets’ represents the total of cash in hand, loans and advances to credit institutions and debt securities issued by other borrowers  
as shown in the balance sheet.

*  ‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year.

*  ‘Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation and exclude the Levy to the 
Financial Services Compensation Scheme.

 
2017 

%

 
2016 

%

Gross capital    11.9 11.0

Free capital    10.9 9.9

Liquid assets    23.6 23.7

     

Profit for the year as a percentage of mean total assets    1.16 0.92

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets    1.39 1.28

As percentage of shares and borrowings:
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Kevin Gray Building Society Finance Director and Deputy CEO 1 September 2002 
   
Dick Jenkins Building Society CEO 1 December 2003 

Ann Berresford Accountant 1 February 2008 The Pensions Regulator
   Secure Trust Bank PLC
    
Chris Smyth Solicitor 1 January 2013 C M Smyth Ltd

Angela Cha Solicitor 1 June 2014 Cha Sing Ltd
    
Robert Derry-Evans Solicitor 1 June 2014 Bath Philharmonia Ltd
   Omnia Legal Ltd
   Cobalt Health Ltd
   Romi Behrens Paintings Ltd
    
Denzil Stirk Management Consultant 1 June 2014 
   
David Smith Accountant 1 January 2016 

Tonia Lovell Building Society Director of Risk Management 1 May 2017 

3. Directors and Officers 

Other Officers

The Directors and Officers of the Society at 31 December 2017 together with their further particulars were as follows:   

Documents may be served on the above named Directors c/o The Society Secretary, Bath Building Society, 15 Queen Square, Bath BA1 2HN.

Details of Directors’ service contracts are shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Name Occupation Appointment Other Directorships

Name Business Occupation

Mark Wiltshaw Head of Savings and Investments

Steve Matthews Head of Mortgages

Annual Business Statement (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Registered name and office 

 
Bath Investment & Building Society         
15 Queen Square, Bath BA1 2HN 
Tel: 01225 423271 
 
Registered No. 30B 
 
 
 

Branch offices

 
Bath 
3 Wood Street, Bath BA1 2JQ 
Tel: 01225 330837

12/13 Moorland Road, Oldfield Park, Bath BA2 3PL 
Tel: 01225 445271 
 
 
 

Agency offices 
 
 
Ilminster 
Harper Dolman & West, 20 East Street, TA19 0AJ 
Tel: 01460 53095 
        
Midsomer Norton  
Waterhouse Financial Advisers, 23 High Street, BA3 2DR 
Tel: 01761 412980        

Shaftesbury  
Chaffers Estate Agents, 48 High Street, SP7 8AA 
Tel: 01747 852301        

South Petherton  
Hamdon Financial Services, 36 St James Street, TA13 5BW 
Tel: 01460 240000        

Staple Hill 
Mark Richard Insurance, 141 High Street, BS16 5HQ 
Tel: 0117 957 5008        

Wellington 
MJC Financial Planning, 22 South Street, TA21 8NS 
Tel: 01823 663174        

Your local Society



Head Office:
15 Queen Square, 
Bath BA1 2HN.

Investment enquiries:
Telephone:
01225 423271
Fax:
01225 446914
Email:
investments@bibs.co.uk

Mortgage enquiries:
Telephone:
01225 475719
Fax:
01225 424590
Email:
mortgages@bibs.co.uk

Web:
www.bathbuildingsociety.co.uk

Telephone calls may be 
recorded to help the Society  
to maintain high standards  
of service delivery.

Bath Investment & Building Society is 
authorised by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority and Prudential 
Regulation Authority, Registration  
Number 206026.


